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PUBLIC ENTITY’S GENERAL INFORMATION 
REGISTERED NAME:          South African Library for the Blind

REGISTRATION NUMBER        Not applicable

PHYSICAL ADDRESS:       112b High Street

                                             Grahamstown

                                           6140

POSTAL ADDRESS:      P.O. Box 115

                                     Grahamstown

                                      6140

TELEPHONE NUMBER/S:     027 46 622 7226

FAX NUMBER:      027 46 622 4645

EMAIL ADDRESS:      director@salb.org.za

WEBSITE ADDRESS:     www.salb.org.za

EXTERNAL AUDITORS:    Auditor General South Africa

BANKERS:      Standard Bank; ABSA

COMPANY/ BOARD SECRETARY  Not applicable

AGSA Auditor General of South Africa

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

DAC Department of Arts & Culture

DAISY Digital Accessible Information System

IFLA International Federation of Library Associations

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

MTEF Medium Term Expenditure Framework

NDPW National Department of Public Works

SABA South African Braille Authority

SALB South African Library for the Blind

TIGAR Trusted Intermediary Global Accessible Resources

WIPO World Intellectual Property Organisation

 

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS

1

2

02



knowledge and background in internal auditing. 

The Library’s income increased to R17,018,000. This 

represents an increase of only  0.5% compared to the 

previous financial year.  Of this amount, the major portion 

is due to income such as bequests and donations that was 

lower this year which cannot be budgeted for, this was higher 

in the previous financial year, as it is never constant. The 

total subsidy increase received from the Department of Arts 

and Culture only increased by 6.7% when compared to the 

previous financial year. Although it is commendable that the 

Library is able to generate own income through fundraising, 

interest and projects which add to the total income received, 

it is also a matter of concern that the funds received from the 

Department are not sufficient to support the core functions of 

the Library as required by the Library’s Act, i.e. the production 

and distribution of accessible reading material to the blind and 

visually-impaired people of South Africa.  

On behalf of the Board I would like to appeal to National 

Treasury and the Department of Arts and Culture to review 

the library’s budget allocation. The point has been made in 

the past that compliance cost to adhere to the PFMA and 

related governance requirements as well as certain accounting 

principles is rather exorbitant. It is understood that the budget 

allocation enables the library to comply with the above 

requirements but it makes no sense to have a fully compliant 

organisation but one that cannot fully respond to the reading 

and information needs of the blind and visually-impaired people 

of South Africa. This is not helping the Library to improve the 

lives of a small and disadvantaged minority group who are 

seen as equal citizens under the South African Constitution. 

The Board appreciates the efforts of Library Management to 

augment the budget of the Library to expand services to all 

provinces and to assist libraries located at schools for the 

blind. Without these fundraising initiatives the Library would 

not be able to grow and develop services rendered to the Blind 

and Visually Impaired people of South Africa. The Board of the 

Library appreciates the continuing support provided by the 

Department of Arts and Culture and is looking forward to an 

even stronger partnership in future. 

 

DR. W. ROWLAND

Chairperson of the Board of the South African Library for the 

Blind

July 2014

03

FOREWORD

DR. WILLIAM ROWLAND 
Chairperson of the SA Library for the Blind Board

The three-year term of the previous Board came to an end in 

September 2013 and the new Board was inaugurated during 

a workshop hosted by the Department of Arts and Culture 

on 29 and 30 October 2013. The following four members of 

the previous Board were re-appointed for a second term as 

allowed under the South African Library for the Blind Act 91 of 

1998: Ms. L. Nkosi, Mr. J. Nair, Adv. S. Kekana and 

Ms. N. Rasmeni. Five new members joined the Board. They are 

Dr. W. Rowland (the undersigned), Mr. Z. Ally, Ms. J. Matsebula, 

V. Nyamathe and Mr. M Watermeyer. The Minister of Arts and 

Culture appointed Dr. Rowland as the new Chair of the Board. 

The new Chair of the Board signed the Shareholder’s 

Compact with the Minister of Arts & Culture, the Honourable 

Paul Mashatile on the 4th of April 2014 in Pretoria. The 

Shareholder’s Compact will guide the Board in its role and 

functioning to assist and advise Library Management for the 

next three years in terms of the execution of the Library’s 

Strategic Planning initiatives. 

The previous Board concluded their last meeting at the end 

of July when they approved the Annual Financial Statements 

of the Library for the 2012/2013 financial year. The Board 

appreciated the fact that the Library received an unqualified 

audit from the Auditor General’s Office. The new Board had its 

first meeting during January 2014. The Annual Performance 

Plan of the Library for 2014/2015 was approved. Progress 

with performance and the financial status of the Library will be 

monitored through the quarterly reports that are also submitted 

to the Department of Arts and Culture. 

The Board welcomed the appointment of the new Chief 

Financial Officer, Mr. G. Wilson. Mr. Wilson joined the Library 

from the 1st of July 2013 and will be a valuable resource for 

the financial governance of the Library since he has extensive 

Dr. William Rowland
BY THE CHAIRPERSON
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FOREWORD
second year in a row, we were able to submit the Employment 

Equity Return to the Department of Labour.  The Library is doing 

very well in terms of Employment Equity requirements. During the 

reporting period, a total of 6 staff members were able to continue 

their studies (toward formal qualifications) through registered 

external Training Institutions, by utilizing the Skills Development 

Fund of the Library. Furthermore, all of our Management staff 

attended a two day training seminar on Project 

Management Principles, and a number of staff 

were also able to attend other job specific short 

courses, such as Auditing, Forensic Auditing, Health 

and Safety as well as First Aid. Staff also attended 

conferences and seminars, such as the International 

Federation of Library Associations and Institutions 

(IFLA), Library and Information Association of South 

Africa (LIASA) and South African Braille Authority 

(SABA) with the financial assistance of the Library.

The Director is a member of a steering group 

under the auspices of the World Intellectual Property 

Organisation to establish international arrangements 

and a platform to enable the exchange of accessible reading 

material across borders. Good progress has been made 

and files of audio books were exchanged as part of a pilot 

program. This initiative will dove-tail with the highly anticipated 

acceptance of the international Instrument/Treaty on Limitations 

and Exceptions for Visually Impaired Persons/Persons with 

Print Disabilities expected to be approved by most if not all 

WIPO member countries. Government is urged to sign and 

ratify the Treaty in order for it to be enacted in the South African 

Copyright Legislation. This instrument will allow an internationally 

acceptable arrangement to make reading material available to 

blind and visually impaired people with fewer restrictions.

The Library concluded its plans to celebrate its 95th 

anniversary during 2014. The first event was hosted in the 

last quarter of the financial year with the unveiling of a 1919 

commemorative plaque at the entrance of the Library. This was 

the year that the founder of the Library, Josephine Wood started 

to establish and expand the services of the Library to what it is 

today. 

The Library has a long and proud history, heritage and 

record of service delivery to a marginalised group of people. It 

is our mission to improve access to appropriate technologies 

and accessible reading material that will ensure a more inclusive 

society for all the citizens of South Africa, especially the blind and 

visually impaired people of this Country. The support we receive 

from the Department of Arts & Culture as well as the Board of the 

South African Library for the Blind in this regard is appreciated. 

 

F. Hendrikz

Chief Executive Officer 

South African Library for the Blind

July 2014

The Library completed a very successful year. Through 

dedication, commitment and hard work the library achieved 

25 of its 34 applicable objectives for the year. That is a 26.3% 

improvement compared to the previous financial year to 

achieve 73.5% of the predetermined objectives. The main 

reason for not achieving all objectives is due to technology 

failures, discontinuation of titles by Publishers and delays 

to receive material for various suppliers. 222 audio book 

titles and 210 braille book titles were added to the Library’s 

catalogue. We appreciate the assistance we receive from 

various volunteers assisting the Library to produce the audio 

and Braille material. The Library is only limited by its existing 

budget allocations to expand the production of accessible 

reading material. It is anticipated that more accessible titles 

will be made available in the future when the TIGAR catalogue 

hosted by the World Intellectual Property Organisation will 

become operational. The Library uploaded more than 5,000 

titles onto the catalogue as part of this process. The catalogue 

will make it possible to exchange accessible material across 

international borders.  Because digital technologies are now 

fully established as the norm the Library will no longer issue 

analogue audio books. These titles have been converted over 

many years to digital formats and are therefore still accessible. 

The maintenance of analogue playback equipment will 

continue as long as parts are available otherwise this support 

service will be terminated during 2014.  

The Library continued with its strategy to decentralise the 

products and services it offers to blind and visually impaired 

people of South Africa and raised funds for this initiative. 

To date the Library in collaboration with the Eastern Cape 

Department of Sport Recreation, Arts & Culture established 

library service points in 20 public libraries in the Province and 

the project will continue. The same model was applied in the 

Provinces of Kwazulu-Natal and Mpumalanga and 7 service 

points were established in each of the Provinces. The Province 

of the Kwazulu-Natal already made more funds available to 

expand the project in the Province which involves the training 

of library members, library staff and the provisioning of 

appropriate assistive technologies. 

The Library successfully concluded a project to assist 

libraries located in the 21 Schools for the Blind. The Library 

also raised funds for this project and provided the libraries with 

reading devices and other technologies, furniture and reading 

material to improve school library services.

The Library made two new appointments following the 

approval by the Board of the new organisational structure, i.e. 

a Library Dispatch Assistant and Data Capturer for the Braille 

Section.   This brings the total number of people employed by 

the Library to 46. Management is proud to report that for the 
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AND CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY 
FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT

STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm the 

following: 

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report 

are consistent with the annual financial statements audited 

by the Auditor General.

The annual report is complete, accurate and is free from any 

omissions.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with 

the guidelines on the annual report as issued by National 

Treasury.

The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared 

in accordance with the Auditing standards applicable to the 

public entity.

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of 

the annual financial statements and for the judgements made 

in this information.  

The accounting authority is responsible for establishing, 

and implementing a system of internal control has been 

designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity 

and reliability of the performance information, the human 

resources information and the annual financial statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an 

independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, 

the performance information, the human resources 

information and the financial affairs of the public entity for 

the financial year ended 31 March 2014.

Yours faithfully 

  

Chief Executive Officer

F. Hendrikz

July 2014

 

Chairperson of the Board

Dr. W. Rowland

July 2014
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AND CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY 
FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT

RESPONSIBILITY
6.1. Vision 
The Library contributes to the quality of life of print-handicapped people encouraging independence through access to 

information, informed decision-making and taking pleasure in the enjoyment of recreational reading. 

6.2. Mission
The Library provides a national and international library and information service to the print-handicapped, free of charge as 

far as is reasonably possible, by producing reading material in alternative formats. 

6.3. Values
The focus of the South African Library for the Blind is to make a difference and add value to the lives of print disabled 
people. To make this possible, all our activities are guided by the following values:

a.  Trust
  We base our working relationship on honesty and integrity.

b.  Respect
  We respect people, time and property equally. 

c.  Teamwork
  We work together as a dedicated and loyal team. 

d.  Positive attitude
  We approach everything in an enthusiastic and constructive manner.

e.  Communication 
  We communicate in a responsive, clear and appropriate manner. 

f.  Development
  We actively support staff and infrastructure development to promote individual and 
  organisational growth. 

 

 

STRATEGIC 
6

OVERVIEW

06



7

Management framework.  

The Library is striving towards achieving this objective. In 

addition, the Library’s financial policies are reviewed in order to 

ensure continued alignment with the provisions of the Public 

Finance Management Act and the Treasury Regulations. 

The Library has a fully-operational internal audit structure.

•	 Employment	Equity	Act

After carefully considering the definition of an Organ of State, 

as defined in the Constitution of South Africa, we believe 

that the SA Library for the Blind falls under this category and 

is therefore required to conform to the requirements of the 

Employment Equity Act. An Employment Equity Manager 

was appointed internally, as well as an Employment Equity 

committee established for this purpose. The first formal 

Employment Equity report for SALB will be tabled with the 

Department of Labour by the due date of 15 January 2013 and 

every two years thereafter. Because the Library employs fewer 

than 150 employees, we are regarded as a small organization 

in terms of the Employment Equity Act.

•	 Skills	Development	Act

Skills Development is a very important aspect in any 

Organisation. The Employment Equity Act also requires of 

designated employers to submit formal plans on an annual 

basis to the relevant SETA. The SA Library for the Blind will 

submit a Workplace Skills Plan to the ETDP Seta in future.

•	 Promotion	of	Access	to	Information	Act

The Library submitted their Section 51 Manual in terms of 

the Promotion of Access to Information Act to the SA Human 

Rights Commission during 2011. The Manual was done in 

English. During 2012, the manuals were also translated into 

Afrikaans and Xhosa for ease of reference.

•	 Occupational	Health	&	Safety	Act

The Library has a Health & Safety Committee in place. The 

Committee functions are in line with the Act and they meet as 

prescribed.

7.3  Policy mandates
The Strategic Plan has been developed within the framework 

of the United Nations Millennium Goals, the National Priorities 

of the South African Government and the United Nations 

Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities which 

has been signed and ratified by the SA Government. 

In addition, the work of the Library is in direct support of 

the Vision and Mission of the Department of Arts & Culture. 

Through the production and distribution of accessible media 

to blind and visually impaired people in South Africa this 

target group becomes part of social cohesion, nation-building, 

sharing in the art and culture of South Africa and as well as its 

languages.

LEGISLATIVE 
AND OTHER MANDATES
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The 
South African 
Library for the 

Blind is recognised 
in Schedule 3A of 

The Public Finance 
Management Act 

(Act 1 Of 1999) 
as a national 

public 
entity.

7.1 Constitutional mandate
The South African Library for the Blind’s mandate is subject 

to and in accordance with the South African Constitution 

and the South Africa Library for the Blind Act 91 of 1998. It is 

legally committed to the values upon which the democratic 

South African state is founded and in particular to those of 

equality, human dignity, the advancement of human rights 

and freedoms, non-racialism, non-sexism, accountability and 

democracy.  In addition, it strives to make a contribution to 

Africa by being an available resource of advice and expertise.

In support of the above, the South African Library for Blind Act 

91 of 1998 mandates the Library to: 

•	 produce	documents	in	special	mediums	such	as	braille	and		

 audio formats for use by its readers; 

•	 develop	standards	for	the	production	of	such	documents;

•	 research	production	methods	and	technology	in	the		 	

 appropriate fields; and

•	 acquire	and	disseminate	the	technology	required	by	people		

 with print disabilities to read.

This mandate commits the Library to:

•	 maintain	the	quality	of	its	library	and	book	production		 	

 services through appropriate resources, 

•	 expand	its	products	and	services	to	the	print-handicapped,	

•	 expand	its	collection	of	reading	material	and	provide		 	

 access to it,

•	 sustain	sensitivity	for	the	reading	needs	of	its	constituency,	

•	 research	applicable	technology	and	braille	codes	for		 	

 potential application, 

•	 develop	and	preserve	its	human	resource	skills	base,	

•	 maintain	and	develop	good	relations	with	its	readers,		 	

 suppliers, funders, the State and publishers, and 

•	 expand	its	marketing	and	fundraising	program.

The library serves a very particular constituency and in this 

regard 

•	 it	is	socially	committed	to	strive,	by	its	own	efforts	and		 	

 in co-operation with others, for the removal, as far as   

 possible, of access barriers to information and 

•	 to	provide	a	quality	service	to	meet,	as	fully	as	practicable,		

 the information needs of all South Africans who are blind or  

 print-handicapped.

7.2 Legislative mandates
The South African Library for the Blind derives its mandate 

from the South Library for the Blind Act No. 91 of 1998. 

The mandate is further strengthened by complying with the 

following legislation: 

•	 Public	Finance	Management	Act:	

The first and most important is full compliance with the 

provisions of the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury 

regulations.  An area where the Library still falls short of what 

the Act requires relates to a fully-operational Supply Chain 



LEGISLATIVE 
AND OTHER MANDATES

8.  Organisational Structure as at 31 March 2014
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     AUDITOR’S     
       REPORT:     
      PREDETERMINED       
     OBJECTIVES
The AGSA currently performs the necessary audit procedures 

on the performance information to provide reasonable 

assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit 

conclusion on the performance against predetermined 

objectives is included in the report to management, with 

material findings being reported under the Predetermined 

Objectives heading in the Report on other legal and regulatory 

requirements section of the auditor’s report.

Refer to page 36 of the Report of the Auditors Report, 

published as Part E: Financial Information.

    SITUATIONAL 
     ANALYSIS 

2.1. Service Delivery Environment
The SALB operates under Programme 6 of the activities of the 

Department of Arts & Culture, i.e. to facilitate full and open 

access to archival and information resources of South Africa. 

In the SALB’s case these activities are focused on the blind 

and visually impaired citizens of South Africa.  The objectives 

of the library therefore are in support of the Department of Arts 

& Culture’s objective to guide, sustain and develop library and 

information resources of South Africa so that good governance 

is supported, socio-economic development is sustained and 

citizens are empowered through full and open access to these 

resources.  There are, however, a number of challenges facing 

blind and visually impaired people when it comes to access to 

information resources. These challenges influence the SALB in 

executing its core mandate and the role it plays on a broader 

social level. As part of strategic resource planning the Library is 

faced by the following challenges: 

•	 Scarce	skills

•	 Organizational	structure

•	 Building	constraints	

•	 Connectivity

•	 National	funding	priority	

•	 Expensive	and	imported	technology	

•	 Target	market	expansion

•	 Legal	compliance	funding	needs

•	 Copyright	and	International	access	to	reading	material	

In terms of opportunities the Library is the only one of its kind 

not only in South Africa but also on the African Continent. 

Although there are scarce skills in audio and Braille production 

the library has well trained staff to produce accessible reading 

material for blind and visually impaired people. The Library’s 

content is digitized which makes it easy to distribute material 

nationally and internationally. The Library plays an important 

role in collaboration with International organisations such as 

the World Intellectual Property Organisation to address the 

lack of sharing digital book files across international borders. 

The Library is also a member of the International Federation of 

Library Associations where we share and exchange knowledge 

about library service delivery to our unique market. The Library 

has added a third reading format to its production line, i.e. 

tactile books for children. This contributes to literacy and the 

love for reading with children. Collaboration with Provincial 

Library Authorities contributed to the establishment of Digital 

Library Service Points in various public libraries. Expanding the 

membership base of the Library through this Minilibrary Project 

is crucial to reach as many members as possible. 

The Mzanzi Golden Economy of DAC provides additional 

opportunities for the SALB specifically in skill development 

and employment. The SALB will initiate an annual program 

whereby blind and visu ally impaired learners in Grade 11/12 

will have the opportunity to learn all aspects of the operations 

performed by the Library. Apart from receiving a stipend during 

the period at the library it will expose the learners to various 

career options they may consider after completion of their 

school studies. 

2.2. Organisational environment 
The Library is a National Institution with very unique functions 

as the only Library for the Blind in the country and on the 

African Continent. The Library is therefore fully dependent on 

itself in terms of working out its organisational challenges in 

terms of audio and Braille book production, training of staff 

in these disciplines and obtaining and making available the 

necessary resources to render services and products. 

A new Board was appointed by the Minister of Arts & Culture 

and the inaugural meeting took place during October 2013. The 

Board will guide the Management for the next three years until 

2016. The Annual Performance Plan for 2014/15 was approved 

by the Board during its first meeting. 

The Library places a high value on the implementation of a 

comprehensive training and development plan to expand and 

improve the skills of library staff and the volunteers of the 

Library. This is necessary because of the unique skills required 

PERFORMANCE
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The Library places a high value on the implementation of a 

comprehensive training and development plan to expand and 

improve the skills of library staff and the volunteers of the 

Library. This is necessary because of the unique skills required 

by the Library. 

To create jobs and to address the scarce skills challenge the 

Library is pursuing the implementation of an-apprenticeship 

program for blind and visually impaired learners in Grade 

11/12.  This includes partnerships with other organisations for 

the Blind and Visually Impaired people to develop the required 

skills set. 

The Library is nearing the completion of streamlining its 

Analogue to Digital (A2D) conversion program.

A project has been registered with the Department of Public 

Works to redesign the library building to accommodate its 

medium and long-term space needs. 

To assist the Library to grow and develop as a National 

Institution a Human Resource Plan has been submitted to the 

Department of Arts & Culture to assist with the funding of the 

positions required over the next three years. A new CFO was 

appointed on probation during July 2013. The change between 

CFO’s did not affect the Audit and the Financial Management 

of the Library in any significant manner. 

The library’s functions are in support of the Vision and Mission 

of the Department of Arts & Culture. Through the production 

and distribution of accessible media to blind and visually 

impaired people in South Africa this target group becomes 

part of social cohesion, nation-building, sharing in the art and 

culture of South Africa and as well as its languages.

The organisational environment is limited due to the small 

but important market served but the challenges faced by the 

market are huge in terms of accessibility to reading material. 

Nationally 
The core performance environment of the library is guided but 

not limited to the broad goals and objectives of the Department 

of Arts & Culture with specific reference to:

•	 Job	creation	through	the	planned	Apprenticeship	program		

 for blind and visually impaired matriculants;

•	 Access	to	information	through	continued	production		 	

 of  accessible reading material and to participate with   

 International Organisations to allow the free exchange of  

 book files between countries;

•	 Revitalizing	the	public	libraries	of	South	Africa	through		 	

 the establishment of Digital Minilibrary service points in   

 public libraries of all the provinces in South Africa

•	 Promotion	of	Linguistic	Diversity	through	the	production			

 of accessible reading material in all the official languages  

  of  South Africa as well as tools in applying international  

 rules and standards in developing training material in those  

 languages. 

In addition, the Library will consider various options to provide 

Internet access for our members to allow access to electronic 

accessible services.  The Library will increase its print and 

electronic marketing efforts to raise its visibility and collaborate 

with various organisations to attract more members.

The continuously growing financial and other resource 

demands of the annual audits will be raised and discussed with 

the Board and the Office of the Auditor-General in an effort to 

find a solution to the challenge. 

Africa
The Library will identify opportunities to promote the work done 

by the Library in Africa. We will pursue opportunities to form 

partnerships with organisations in Countries with established 

infrastructure to render Library Services or general services to 

blind and Visually Impaired people. This will be done with the 

assistance of strategic partners, nationally and internationally.

 

Internationally
The Library will participate as a member of a Steering 

committee in the three-year Trusted Intermediary and Global 

Accessible Resources (TIGAR) project. The purpose is 

to determine an internationally accepted arrangement to 

addresses the International exchange of material between 

Trusted Intermediaries of in-copyright material that is 

acceptable for rights holders and organisations serving the 

information and reading needs of blind and visually impaired 

people. The South African Government is a signatory to the 

United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with 

Disabilities. One of the key responsibilities to be addressed is 

focussed on Access to information. The Library is assisting the 

National Government of South Africa to address this matter for 

blind and visually impaired people of this country. 

2.3. Key policy developments and    
legislative changes
No Legislative or Policy changes were instituted during the 

reporting period that affected the work of the Library. 

2.4. Strategic Outcome Oriented Goals
The Strategic goal of the Library is to render a National 

Library service to blind and visually impaired people. This has 

been achieved during this reporting period as indicated in 

the following Section where the performance of the various 

Sections of the Library is explained. The Library achieved 

73.5% out of the total of 34 objectives set for the year. The 

objectives not achieved were due to Publishers discontinuing 

titles which were planned for production. The rest of the 

objectives were partially achieved ranging from 50% to 95%.
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3.1. Programme 1: Library & Information Service
The purpose of this Programme is to develop a balanced collection of audio and Braille material in line with Copyright 

Legislation and to issue to and receive back reading material and reading devices from the members of the Library. The 

Programme consists of Circulation (Audio and Braille) and Cataloguing. 

Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements

 
Strategic 
objectives

Actual 
Achievement 2012/2013

Planned 
Target 

2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement 

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to 
Actual 

Achievement 
for 2013/2014

Comment 
on deviations

Add 1,130 
self-produced titles to 

the SALB 
collection by 2017.

275 audio titles were added to 
the collection as a result of the 

A2D process
222

224 titles were 
added to the 

collection.

Exceeded target 
with 2 titles.

Exceeding the target with two is 
reasonable since the target was 

determined on an estimate during 
planning and based on best 

practices over the previous years.

Add 1,150 
self-produced Braille 

titles to the SALB 
collection by 2017

166 titles were added to the col-
lection. The target could not be 

achieved as a result of slow input 
of volunteers. 

220
210 titles were 
added to the 

collection. 

10 titles less than 
target.

The target could not be achieved as 
result of slow input of volunteers. A 
Volunteer Management Plan has 

been put in place and will be 
monitored. 

Purchase 816 
completed audio titles 
from other production 

houses by 2017.

244 titles were added to 
collection as a result of acquiring 
books from the Royal National 
Institute of Blind People and 
Overdrive, an online e-book 

business. 

160 pur-
chased audio 
books titles

302 titles were 
added to the 

collection

Exceeded 
target with 142 

titles.

The target was exceeded as a result 
of acquiring books from the Royal 
National Institute of Blind People 
and Overdrive, an online e-book 

business.

Purchase 500 
completed Braille titles 
from other production 

houses by 2017. 

36 titles were added 
to the collection. 

100 
purchased 
Braille titles.

214 titles were 
added to the 

collection.

Exceeded 
target with 114 

titles. 

More Braille titles were added 
due to titles that were waiting to 
be catalogued from the previous 

financial year.

Copyright free 
Braille titles: 

Identify 650 copyright 
free braille titles from 
various sources to ad 
to the SALB collection 

by 2017.

The planned number of titles 
could not be added to the 

collection because the main 
supplier of titles, The Canadian 
National Institute for the Blind 

changed library systems 
and no books could be 

downloaded. The target will be 
re-assessed as there is very little 

need for old titles. 

100 
Copyright free 

titles.

148 copyright 
free titles were 
added to the 

collection.

Exceeded target 
with 48 titles. 

More copyright free titles were 
acquired due to opportunities that 

presented itself throughout the year. 

Audio 
Magazines: 

To add 15 audio 
magazines to the SALB 

magazine 
collection by 2017.

Two new magazine titles were 
added to the collection, i.e. 

Cesar’s Way and Leisure Wheels. 

2 audio 
magazines.

1 Audio 
Magazine (Joy 
Magazine) was 
added to the 

collection.

1 title less than 
target.

The second title was 
discontinued by the 

Publisher. 

3.   
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Braille 
Magazines: 

To add 15 audio and 5 
Braille magazine titles 
to the SALB magazine 

collection by 2017.

One new magazine title was 
added to the collection, i.e. Drum 

(Zulu).

1 Braille 
magazine

Nil
1 title less than 

target.

One Braille Magazine could not be 
added to the collection because the 

title was discontinued by the 
Publisher.  New titles and publishers 
will be identified and approached.

Audio 
Newspapers: 

Add 5 audio 
newspapers to the 
SALB newspaper 

collection by 2017.

One newspaper title could not be 
added to the collection as a result 
of unforeseen delivering problems 
in Grahamstown, resulting in the 

cancellation of the new 
subscription. 

1 audio 
newspaper.

The Mail & 
Guardian was 
added as an 

audio 
newspaper.

Target achieved. -

Braille 
Newspapers: 
To add 5 Braille 

newspapers to the 
SALB 

Newspaper collection.

1 newspaper title could not be 
added to the collection due to 
the same reason as with Audio 
Newspapers. Various attempts 

were made to resolve the 
problem but were not 

successful. Alternatives are 
explored. 

1 Braille 
newspaper.

The Mail & 
Guardian was 
added to the 

collection. 

Target achieved. -

Membership growth: 
Increase members’ 
applications with 

3,225 new members 
by 2017.

610 new members were 
registered which is slightly under 

target. An Outreach Librarian 
has been appointed and will 

address the matter in the next 
financial year. 

645 
membership 

growth.

679 new 
members were 

registered. 

Exceeded target 
with 34 new 
members. 

Partly due to the appointment 
of an Outreach Librarian and 

the establishment of 
Mini-Libraries. 

Mini-libraries: 
Establish a special 

library service for print-
handicapped people 
within public libraries 

or other organizations, 
by adding  50 new 

Mini-libraries by 2017.

20 Mini-libraries were 
established as a result of the 

Eastern Cape Provincial 
mini-library project and renewed 
interest from Old Age Homes. 

10 
Mini-libraries.

18 Mini-libraries 
were 

established. 

Exceeded the 
target with 8 
mini-libraries. 

The reason for exceeding the 
annual target is due to the 
expansion of the project to 

Kwa-Zulu Natal and Mpumalanga 
as well as the appointment of an 

Outreach Librarian.

Circulation of 
reading material: 

Increase the 
circulation of 

reading material in 
various formats to 

Library members to  
127,228 by adding 
1,000 books per 

annum.

122,406 items were circulated 
which is under target and 

dependent on the 
responsiveness of 

Library members and their 
reading rates. 

Circulation 
of reading 
material: 
124,228

132,319 items 
were circulated.

Exceeded target 
with 8,091 books.

The increase in new members 
and mini libraries contributed to the 

total for the year.  

Changes to planned targets
No changes were made to performance targets during the year under review. 

2012/2013 2013/2014

Programme/
activity/

objective
Budget

Actual 
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Budget
Actual 

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Total 2,828,000 2,824,612 3,388 3,173,000 2,824,613 348,387

Linking performance with budgets
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Changes to planned targets
No changes were made to performance targets during the year under review. 

Linking performance with budgets

3.2. Programme 2: Braille Production 

Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements

Strategic 
objectives

Actual Achievement 
2012/2013

Planned 
Target 

2013/2014

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual Achievement 
for 2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement 

2013/2014

Deviation from planned 
target to Actual 

Achievement 
for 2013/2014

Braille pre-production: 
To coordinate the 

pre-production of 1,150 
braille titles through 

volunteers over 5 years.

271 new Braille  titles 
were administered in the 
pre-production process. 

220 new 
titles to be 

administered for 
2013/14

371 titles were pre-
pared for production

Exceeded target with 
151 titles. 

More titles were 
administered due to an 
improvement made to 

statistical recordkeeping.

Braille Titles: 
To produce 1,150 new 
Braille titles by 2017 to 

add to the Library’s 
collection. 

182 new Braille titles were 
produced.

Prepare 220 
files for final 

printing. 

180 braille titles were 
produced. 

40 titles less than tar-
get were produced. 

The annual target could
 not be achieved as these 

were the only titles delivered by 
the Volunteers. Delivery 
delays in Braille book 

transcription is an 
ongoing process.

Copyright free Braille 
titles prepared: 

To prepare 650 Copyright 
free Braille titles obtained 
from external sources to 
be added to the SALB 

collection.

No titles were produced 
because no title were 

received from the Canad
ian National Institute for 
the Blind as mentioned 
under Library Services. 

Prepare 100 
files for final 

printing. 

119 copyright free 
titles were produced.

Exceeded target 
with 19 titles. 

More copyright free titles 
were acquired by the
 Library Services and 

were processed to expand 
the collection. 

Braille magazines:
Produce 5 new bBraille 
magazine titels by 2017.

The Zulu version of 
Drum is in production. 

1 braille 
magazine.

The target could 
not be achieved.

1 braille magazine 
not produced. 

The identified title was 
discontinued by the Publisher. 

New titles and Publishers 
will be identified and 

approached for Copyright 
clearance. 

Indigenous Braille 
titles: 

To increase the
 indigenous Braille 

titles with 72 by 2015.

25 new indigenous 
Braille titles were 

produced. 

24 new 
African 

language 
titles.

26 indigenous 
language Braille titles 

were produced. 

Exceeded target 
with 2 titles. 

-

Braille Newspaper: 
To produce 5 Braille 

Newspapers by 2017.

The paper copy of the 
Sunday World newspaper 
could not be delivered to 

the Library by the 
Publisher. The Braille 

version of the 

1 new 
Provincial/

National Braille 
newspaper. 

Produced the 
Braille version of the 

Mail & Guardain.
Target achieved. -

14

Changes to planned targets
No changes were made to performance targets during the year under review.  

2012/2013 2013/2014

Programme/
activity/

objective
Budget

Actual 
Expenditure

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Budget
Actual 

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Total 1,646,500 1,760,064 (113,564) 1,797,500 1,725,656 71,844

Linking performance with budgets
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2012/2013 2013/2014

Programme/
activity/objective

Budget
Actual 

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Budget
Actual 

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Total 1,646,500 1,498,210 148,290 1,797,500 1,730,339 61,161

Strategic 
objectives

Actual Achievement 
2012/2013

Planned 
Target

2013/2014

Actual Achievement
2013/2014

Deviation from 
planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment 
on deviations

1. New titles 
1.1  Audio 

pre-production 
To coordinate the 

narration of 1,130 audio 
titles through in-house 
and external narrators 

over 5 years.

235 Daisy titles were 
prepared 

for production.  

222 Daisy 
titles.

229 pre-production 
audio files were 

coordinated, 
completed and ready 
for final production.

Exceeded target 
with 7 titles.

Exceeding the target is 
reasonable since the target 

was determined on an 
estimate during planning and 
based on best practices over 

the previous years.

1.2  Newly 
narrated  

Daisy Titles 
To produce 1,130 

newly narrated books 
which conforms to the 

Daisy standard.

210 Daisy titles were produced 
which is slightly under the annual 

target. Inactive narrators were 
followed up to increase the 

completion of narrated items. 

222 Daisy 
titles.

223 newly narrated 
digital audio titles were 

produced which 
conforms to the Daisy 

standard. 

Exceeded target 
with 1 title. 

Exceeding the target is 
reasonable since the target 

was determined on an 
estimate during planning and 
based on best practices over 

the previous years.

2. Purchased Titles
To prepare 816 titles  
acquisitioned from 

suppliers to conform 
to SALB audio book 

standards.

159 purchased audio titles 
were processed. A file transfer 
Server was set up in order to 

receive files directly from suppliers. 

160 Audio 
titles

162 acquisitioned titles 
were purchased and 

prepared from 
suppliers that conform 
to the Library’s audio 

book standards.

Exceeded target 
with 2 titles. 

Exceeding the target is 
reasonable since the target 

was determined on an 
estimate during planning and 
based on best practices over 

the previous years.

3. Analogue to Digital 
Conversion 

To convert and do final 
quality check of 2,861 

titles until 2017

529 titles were converted which is 
slightly under target. The conversion 
strategy will be adapted for the new 

financial year. 

561 titles 
converted. 

562 titles were 
converted from 

analogue to digital 
conforming to the 
Daisy standard. 

Exceeded target 
with 1 title. 

Exceeding the target is
reasonable since the target 

was determined on an 
estimate during planning and 
based on best practices over 

the previous years.

4. Audio Magazines 
and newspapers 

4.1 To produce 15 new 
audio magazine titles 
in the Daisy format by 

2017.

Two new audio magazines were 
produced (Leisure Wheels and 
Cesar’s Way) in the Daisy MP3 

format. The annual objective could 
not be achieved due to format and 
delivery challenges. It was decided 

to use human narration only to speed 
up production. 

Add 2 
new titles.

1 new audio magazine 
title was produced

 (Joy Magazine) in the 
Daisy format.

Achieved 50% of 
the target.

The 2nd planned audio 
magazine (Seventeen

 magazine) was 
discontinued by the 

Publisher. New titles will be 
identified and followed-up 

with the Publisher. 

4.2 Newspapers 
Produce 5 new audio 
newspaper titles in the 
Daisy format by 2017.

1 newspaper title could not be 
produced due to problems 

experienced with delivery of paper 
copies by the Publisher. Delivery of 
electronic files were investigated but 

also could not be implemented. 

Add 1 
new title.

1 new newspaper 
title was produced 

(Mail and Guardian) in 
the Daisy format.

Target achieved. -

    

Linking performance with budgets

3.3. Programme 3: Audio Production 
Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements
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3.4. Programme 4: National Braille Consultancy 

Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements

Strategic 
objectives

Actual Achievement 2012/2013
Planned 
Target

2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement 

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviation

1. Unified Braille 
Code (UBC): 
To train Braille 
teachers in the 

use of UBC at 8 
Special Schools 

during the 2012/13 
and 2013/14 and 

monitor the 
effective application 

thereof. 

Six schools were visited and Braille 
teachers were trained in the use of 

UBC. Two schools could not be visited 
due to illness of the Braille Consultant 
in the last quarter of the financial year 
as well as arrangements required to 

attend an Award Ceremony as a 
recipient of a prize for our tactile 
publications in support of Early

Childhood Development. 

4 schools

4 schools 
were visited, 

i.e.Setotolwane 
and Boselele in 

Limpopo and Open 
Air and Ethembeni 
in Kwa-Zulu Natal. 
Staff and learners 

were trained in 
UBC.

Target
achieved.

-

2. IsiZulu Braille 
Primer: 

To draft 1 Braille 
primer in IsiZulu by 

2012/2013.

The Primer was completed as 
planned. An additional  component 
will be added on teaching Braille. 

1 Primer
A draft Primer was 

completed.
Target partially 

achieved. 

Due to the technical malfunction 
of the assistive Braille device 

and the time it took to repair the 
process proof reading could not 
be completed. The Primer will be 

completed during 2014. 

3. isiZulu Braille 
Manual: 

To produce 1 Braile 
reader for IsiZulu 
Braille learners at 
Primary School by 

2014.

Not a planned activity. 
Test Braille 
rules (1st 

draft)

The first draft of 
the Braille rules 
were tested and 
discussed with 

the mother tongue 
speakers.

Target 
achieved.

-

4. Tactile 
material 

production: 
To produce 90 

tactile preschool 
book titles over 5 

years

18 tactile titles were completed. 18 titles.
18 tactile titles were 

completed.
Target 

achieved.
-

Linking performance with budgets

2012/2013 2013/2014

Programme/
activity/objective

Budget
Actual

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Budget
Actual 

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Total 515,000 588,401 (73,401) 583,000 643,726 (60,726)

3.3. Programme 3: Audio Production 
Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements



3.5. Programme 5: Technical Services  

Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements

Strategic 
objectives

Actual Achievement 2012/2013
Planned 
Target 

2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement 

2013/2014

Deviation from 
planned tar-
get to Actual 

Achievement for 
2013/2014

Comment on deviations

1. Building lay-out 
planning: 

Complete a redesign 
of the current 

building which will 
incorporate the

 Hemming Street 
property as part of 
the floor plan of the 

South African Library 
for the Blind.

The objective for the year could not be 
achieved due to unforeseen bureaucratic 
and regulatory challenges. Matrix Urban 

Architects was appointed to produce a Site 
Clearance Certificate. It was discovered that 
the Library and the proposed extension was 

situate on 9 erven which are not all registered 
in the name of the S.A. Government.  A land 
surveyor had to be appointed by the National 
Department of Public Works to address the 
matter before the process could continue. 
Little progress has been made for the past 

2 years despite the involvement of the 
Department of Public Works. 

To have an 
approved, 

concept floor 
plan ready 

and to have a 
contactor ap-
pointed to do 

the work.

Project 
delayed, 

because of the 
consolidation 

and then 
registration of 
the erven in 
the name of 
the National 
Government.

Project not on 
target as planned.

Bureaucratic requirements 
are delaying the process as 
well as the slow response of 
the National Department of 

Public Works. The Matter will 
be raised during quarterly 

Client Forum Meetings with the 
Department. 

Service analogue 
playback 

equipment: 
To repair 1,227 

analogue players 
during the next 5 

years.

216 analogue players were repaired. 
The lower statistic is acceptable since 
fewer machines were received from 

library members because these players 
are replaced by Digital players. 

Repair 120 
analogue 
players.

104 analogue 
players were 

serviced. 
Target achieved.

All players received for 
repair were repaired and 

returned to the readers. The 
objective was achieved since 

the annual target is an 
indicative figure which should 
not be exceeded because it 
would imply equipment is of 

inferior quality. 

Service digital 
playback 

equipment: 
To repairs 3,575 

digital players during 
the next 5 years.

Not applicable.
Repair 880 

digital players. 
839 players 

were serviced. 
Target achieved. 

All players received for 
repair were repaired and re-
turned to the readers. The 

objective was achieved since 
the annual target is an 

indicative figure which should 
not be exceeded because it 
would imply equipment is of 

inferior quality.

Distribution of 
playback 

equipment: 
To prepare and send 
3,035 Digital Audio 
Book (DAB) players 
to Library members 
during the next 5 

years.

692 Digital Audio Book Players 
were distributed. The annual target 

was exceeded mainly due to member 
recruitment initiatives and the 
establishment of Mini-libraries. 

Distribute 
645 Digital 
Audio Book 

(DAB) players 
to Library 
members.

877 DAB 
players were 
distributed to 

new members 
who applied 

for the service 
during the past 

year. 

Exceeded target with 
232 players. 

Membership drives and new 
mini libraries that were added 
saw a marked increase over 
the planned annual target.

Linking performance with budgets

Programme/
activity/objective

Budget
Actual

 Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Budget
Actual 

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Total 968,000 1,342,681 (374,681) 2,343,000 4,263,386 (1,920,386)

2012/2013 2013/2014
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3.6.  Programme 6: Management Services  
Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements

Strategic 
objectives

Actual Achievement 
2012/2013

Planned 
Target 

2013/2014

Actual Achievement 
2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to 
Actual 

Achievement 
for 2013/2014

Comment on deviations

1. Expanding the 
Human Resource 

base: Fill current 
vacant positions and 
expand the Library’s 
Human Resource 
compliment to 49 

permanent positions 
over the next five 

years.

An Outreach Librarian and two 
Junior Digital Technical Assistant 
positions were filled during June 

2012. The appointment of a 
Senior Braillist was delayed due 

to Sectional requirements until the 
last quarter of the year. 

Preparations were made and 
interviews took place during April 

2013 for the position. 

2 
appointments

2 positions were filled as 
planned, i.e. Data Capturer 
for Braille Services and a 

Library Dispatch person for 
the Library Service Section. 

Target achieved -

2. Apprenticeship 
programme: 

To engage, train and 
develop the skills of 

20 blind and or 
visually impaired 

school leavers with 
Matric per year 

(4 p.a.) over the next 
five years.

A draft project plan was developed.  
Two schools were approached 
to nominate candidates. Due to 
communication difficulties and 
other logistical challenges. The 
project will be moved forward 

by one year. This will enable the 
SALB to interact directly with 

matriculants at schools for the 
Blind and to market the project. 

Planning & 
Preparation

A draft plan was formulated 
and the Zamokuhle School 

for the Blind visited to 
introduce the apprentice-
ship program. There were 
no pupils to enroll into the 

program due to other 
commitments on their part. 

The Program will be 
adjusted to bring 

Matriculants in their current 
year of matric to the Library 
for a working week program 

instead.

Target achieved -

Trusted 
Intermediary 

Global Accessible 
Resources (TIGAR) 
Project: Participate 
as member of the 

International Steering 
Committee in support 

of the TIGAR pilot 
project to improve 

access and sharing 
of accessible reading 

material across
 International borders.

21 book files were downloaded 
from the International database 

and 9 Steering Committee 
Meetings were held. 

40 
International 
exchange of 
book files. 

Target not achieved. 
40 Book files 

not 
exchanged, 

The book files could not be 
exchanged because the 

International Catalogue hosted 
by the World Intellectual

 Property Organization was not 
ready yet. More than 5,000 

Library records were uploaded 
to the catalogue as part of 
the catalogue development 

process. 

African Outreach:
Identify and partner 

with relevant 
structures in Africa to 
promote the Services 

of the SALB and 
to expand service 

delivery to blind and 
visually impaired 
people in Africa.

Visited the National Library of 
Namibia to determine their needs 
to set up a service for blind and 

visually impaired people. A report 
was submitted to the World 

Intellectual Property 
Organisation with 

recommendations as a 
participating Stakeholder. 

Swaziland

The SALB is part of a 
Capacity Development 

Working Group under the 
auspices of the World 
Intellectual Property 

Organisation (WIPO). 

Namibia instead 
of Swaziland 
was visited. 

It was agreed by WIPO that the 
Working Group visit Namibia 
National Library early during 

2013. Swaziland was therefore 
replaced by Namibia. Efforts to 

raise interest after the visit 
unfortunately failed and

 Tanzania was identified as a 
possible alternative country to 

approach in future.
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Linking performance with budgets

Programme/
activity/objective

Budget
Actual

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Budget
Actual 

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Total 18,536,364 11,061,677 7,474,687 18,716,333 13,068,984 5,647,349

2012/2013 2013/2014

3.7. Programme 7: Marketing   

Strategic objectives, performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Strategic 
objectives

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target 
2013/2014

Actual Achievement
2013/2014

Deviation from planned 
target to Actual Achievement 

for 2013/2014

Comment on 
deviations

SALB95 years 
celebrations.

Not a planned 
activity.

Planning
A marketing plan is in 

place and events planned 
for 2014.

Target achieved. -

Linking performance with budgets

Programme/
activity/objective

Budget
Actual 

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Budget
Actual 

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Total 88,000 145,857 57,857 90,000 150,066 60,000

2012/2013 2013/2014
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Strategic 
objectives

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target 
2013/2014

Actual Achievement
2013/2014

Deviation from planned 
target to Actual Achievement 

for 2013/2014

Comment on 
deviations

SALB95 years 
celebrations.

Not a planned 
activity.

Planning
A marketing plan is in 

place and events planned 
for 2014.

Target achieved. -

4.1. Capital investment 

The Library’s Asset Register was maintained throughout 

the year and no asset holdings have changed. The Library’s 

assets are in a fair to good condition. Essential equipment is 

maintained and planning is in place for the replacement of 

essential equipment requiring replacement or upgrading. Focus 

has been place on the fixed asset register, and students were 

brought in to ensure that all assets were tagged and tie back 

to the fixed asset register. Some assets were still identified that 

were not appropriately tagged and will receive due attention 

during the next financial year. 

No major maintenance projects were launched during the 

reporting period other than day to day maintenance. The 

building occupied by the SA Library for the Blind is in a fairly 

good condition which is due to responsive facility management 

and the support received from the Provincial Department 

of Public Works (PWD). The Department of Arts & Culture 

REVENUE COLLECTION

2012/2013 2013/2014

approved R11 million in 2007 for an extension and upgrade 

project of the SA Library. The project has been severely 

delayed due to an Historic Impact Assessment that was done. 

A Report was provisionally accepted by the Eastern Cape 

Heritage Committee and the Department of Public Works will 

consider the recommendations once planning of the projects 

commences. At this stage it is not clear when this will happen. 

A second delay is the consolidation and transfer of 9 erven into 

one and to list the South African Government as the owner of 

the property. This matter is still in process and administered by 

the Department of Public Works and the Department of Arts & 

Culture. 

As soon as the Permission to Occupy and Build document 

has been signed by the SALB Board and returned to PWD, 

an application for a Planning Instruction will be made. Once 

the Planning Instruction is issued by DAC, PWD may appoint 

consultants to start with floor plans for the new extension.

4. 

The South African Library for the Blind does not collect 

revenue. The main source of funding is the annual subsidy paid 

by the Department of Arts & Culture to the Library. For 2012/13 

this amounted to 73% of total revenue and for 2013/14 it was 

77% of total revenue. The Library does not budget for other 

income because it is not a secure or confirmed source of 

income, e.g. donations and bequests.

Sources of 
revenue

Estimate
Actual Amount 

Collected
(Over)/Under 

Collection
Estimate 

Actual Amount 
Collected

(Over)/Under 
Collection

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Transfers & 
Subsidiies

14,579 14,579 0 15,626 15,626 0

Gifts, Sponsorships 
and Donations

953 953 0 433 433 0

Other income 3,066 3.066 0 3151 3151 0

Interest received 934 934 0 980 980 0

Total 20,082 20,082 0 20,190 20,190 0
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GOVERNANCE 1. INTRODUCTION
The South African Library for the Blind governance processes 
comply with existing corporate governance processes and 
systems. All activities of the Library are directed, controlled and 
can be accounted for. In addition to the requirements of the 
South African Library for the Blind Act 91 of 1998 
corporate governance is applied through the precepts of the 
Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and run in tandem 
with the principles contained in the King’s Report on Corporate 
Governance where applicable. The Library reports to 
Parliament once a year and meets with the Portfolio Committee 
when required. 

2. PORTFOLIO COMMITTEE
No Portfolio Committee meetings were scheduled during 
2013/14. 

3. EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY  

The Management of the Library submitted four quarterly
reports to the Department of Arts & Culture as required. 
The Department provided feedback on the first two quarterly 
reports and raised an issue with the status of objectives 
achieved at that stage. The matter was addressed in the 

following quarterly reports.  A formal Employment Equity 
Report was submitted to the Department of Labour during 
January 2014.
 

4. THE ACCOUNTING 
 AUTHORITY / BOARD
Introduction
The SALB Board is appointed in accordance with the S.A. 
Library for the Blind Act 91 of 1998. The Board is 
responsible and accountable for the Library’s performance and 
strategic direction. 

The role of the Board is as follows:
(a)  to formulate the policies of the Library for the Blind;
(b)  to approve the budget of the Library for the Blind;
(c)  to approve the financial statements of the Library for the  
 Blind;
(d)  to advise the Minister with regard to matters with which  
 the Library for the Blind is concerned; and 
(e)  to furnish the Minister with such information as the 
 Minister may require.

Board Charter
The Board Charter was approved by the Board during August 
2008. The Board aligns its legal responsibilities with the Charter 
and complies with all requirements. 
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Name Designation 
Date 

appointed
Date 

resigned
Qualifications

Area of 
Expertise

Board
Directorships 

Other 
Committees 

or Task Teams

No. of 
Meetings 
attended

Dr. W. 
Rowland

Chairperson 2013 -
MA – 1977
PhD – 1985

Human 
Resources

Braille 
Production

Designer of Braille 
Writing Slate

National  Library of SA
Council of Higher 

Education Council of 
University of Johannesburg

Taganta Financial Group 
Council of National Literary 

Museum SA Breweries
SABC

- 2

Ms. D. Nkosi
Deputy 

Chairperson
2013 -

B.Bibl – 1991
B Bibl Honours 
– 1995 Masters 
Public & Devel-

opmentManage-
ment – 2001

Content 
Management – 
Library Services

Finance 

LIASA
IFLA

SANLIC
Kwa-thema

Stimulation Centre

- 2

Mr. Z. Ally Board member 2013

BA Degree – 
2000

B Comm 
Honours – 2002

Project 
Management 

Finance HR Audit 
& Compliance
Industrial  Rela-
tions Strategy 

Alignment 
Business Process 

Development

Blind SA – 2011
DPSA – 2011 - 2

Adv. S. 
Kekana

Board member 2013

B Juris – 1996
LLB – 1999

LLM – pending 
conferment 

PFMA
PPPF

SAMRO
CMHRB – Capricorn Mental 

Health
- 2

Mr. J. Nair Board member 2013

Fundraising & 
Philantrohphy – 

1993 
Human Re-

source Manage-
ment – 1988

Management
Financial 

Management
Human 

Resource 
Management

Marketing

CRPD Monitoring Project
Disability Rights Promotion

AFLIB President
- 1

Ms. V. 
Nyamathe

Board member 2013

B.Admin – 
Industrial 

Psychology – 
1991

Human 
Resources
Financial

ICT Training

HIV and Aids See No Dis-
ability

Soweto Workshop for the 
Blind

JSB Training Academy

2

Mr. M. 
Watermeyer

Board member 2013

BA – 1992
LLB – 1995

Cobol Computer 
Programming 

Diploma

Management
Human Re-

sources
Fundraising 

Literature Govern-
ance

Transformation

Life Honorary – NEADS 
Canada

Higher Education 
Committee

2

Ms. S. 
Matsebula

Board member 2013
BSc - 1981
MS - 1984

Management 
– HR, Finance, 

Auditing
Marketing & 

Liaision 
Fundraising

Cheshire Cheshire Homes 
SA Rehabilitation

International

Pan African Federation of 
Disabled People

SA Federation of Disabled 
Persons

Swaziland National Society 
for the Blind

Taqanta Board Member

I-Capital Board Member

Director: Motswako Office 
Solutions

- 1

Ms. N. 
Rasmeni

Board member 2013
BA – 1993

DSE – 1976
HPTC – 1966

Management / 
Leadership

EccoBlind - 1
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The Board did not appoint alternate members and no committees were established. 

Remuneration of board members

Board members are remunerated according to National Treasury Guidelines. Board members employed by Government are 
excluded from remuneration. The SALB Act makes provision for reasonable travel and accommodation costs to be paid
by the Library for Board members when executing official duties.

 Name Remuneration Other allowance Other re-imbursements Total

Dr. W. Rowland 10,105.40 0 0 10,105.40

Ms. D. Nkosi 8, 255.51 822.66 0 9,078.17

Mr. Z. Ally 5,148.00 0 0 5,148.00

Adv. S. Kekana 5,979.00 0 0 5,979.00

Mr. J. Nair 3,744.00 0 0 3,744.00

Ms. V. Nyamathe 6,181.03 0 0 6,181.03

Mr. M. Watermeyer 5,148.00 0 0 5,148.00

Ms. N. Rasmeni 4,570.18 1,989.08 0 6,559.26

Ms. S. Matsebula 1,554.00 0 0 1,554.00

*Mr. A. Keyser 831.00 506.00 0 1.337.00

*Justice Z. Yacoob 0 0 0 0

*Mr. L. Ntshani 831.00 4,759.04 0 5,590.04

*Ms. E.N. Xanise 0 0 1,891.72 1,891.72

*Dr. P. McLaren 831.00 2,100.80 0 2,931,80

5. RISK MANAGEMENT
A Risk Management Policy is in place as confirmed by the 
Library’s Internal Auditors. The strategy is based on the policy. 
Regular risk assessments are performed as required and 
verified by the Internal Auditors and the Library’s Audit 
Committee. The management team of the Library serves as a 
Risk Management Committee which is lead by the Chief 
Financial Officer. The CFO and the CEO are responsible for 
addressing and mitigating identified risks. All risks identified on 
an annual basis are addressed in collaboration with the Audit 
Committee. 

6. INTERNAL CONTROL UNIT
The Management Team of the SALB functions as the Internal 
Control Unit. Monthly meetings are conducted. Issues are 
raised with the Board where applicable during their quarterly 
meetings. 

7. INTERNAL AUDIT AND 
 AUDIT COMMITTEE
The key activities and objectives of the internal audit are as 
follows: 
•	 Performing	an	assessment	of	the	adequacy	and	
 effectiveness of the risk management processes; 
•	 Analysing	and	evaluating	defined	business	processes	and	
 associated controls; 
•	 Evaluating	the	effectiveness	of	controls	over	the	reliability		
 and integrity of certain defined information for 
 management purposes, with particular emphasis on   
 financial information; 
•	 Ascertaining	the	level	of	compliance	with	policies,	plans,		
 procedures, laws and regulations applicable to the work  
 undertaken; 

•	 Assessing	the	adequacy	of	controls	to	safeguard	assets,		
 including intangible assets applicable to the work 
 undertaken; 
•	 Assessing	whether	significant	IT	and	capital	projects,		 	
 strategic programs and plans are appropriately 
 documented, approved and implemented; 
•	 Drawing	attention	to	any	failure	by	management	to	take		
 remedial action with respect to control weaknesses 
 identified and reported; and
•	 Assist	the	Audit	Committee	in	achieving	its	objectives	
 by evaluating processes.

The key activities and objectives of the audit committee are:
•	 To	oversee	the	internal	audit.
•	 Be	responsible	for	recommending	the	appointment	of		 	
 the external auditor and to oversee the external 
 audit process.
•	 Oversee	integrated	reporting	and	should	have	regard		 	
 to all factors and risks that may impact on the integrity 
 of the integrated report.
•	 Perform	Risk	management	
•	 Receive	and	review	any	status	reports	from	the	
 General Manager Tax and consider any significant 
 issues as may be required.
•	 Provide	oversight	on	Information	Technology	Governance.
•	 Provide	general	oversight	and	reporting	of	
 sustainability by reviewing the integrated report to 
 ensure that the information contained in it is reliable 
 and that it does not contradict the financial aspects 
 of the report.
•	 Oversee	the	provision	of	assurance	over	
 sustainability issues
•	 Ethics,	Compliance,	and	Whistleblowing	-	be
 responsible for monitoring the ethical conduct of the 
 Library, its executives and senior officials, by Reporting  
 and Accountability -  an independent role with 
 accountability to the board.
A summary of the internal audit work done is provided in the 
report of the Audit Committee Chair. Specify summary of audit 
work done.
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The table below discloses relevant information on the audit committee members

Name Qualifications
Internal or 
external

If internal, 
position in the 
public entity

Date appointed
Date 

Resigned
No. of Meetings 

attended

C. Grobler
Chartered Accountant & 

Registered Auditor
External 4 January 2012 N/A 2

A. Wagenaar B.Com & B. Tax Honours External 4 January 2012 N/A 2

H. Harnett
B. Accounting & Chartered 

Accountant
External 4 January 2012 N/A 1

8.  COMPLIANCE WITH 
    LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Library complies with all applicable Laws and Regulations 

and is audited internally and externally for compliance. 

9.  FRAUD AND 
    CORRUPTION  
A Fraud Risk Management Policy is in place as well as an Anti 

Fraud and Anti Corruption Policy and Plan. The Library’s affairs 

are conducted according to these documents and tested by 

Internal and External Audits. No fraudulent activities were 

raised during the financial year. The plan makes provision for 

various mechanisms to report fraud or corruption by anyone. 

10. MINIMISING CONFLICT 
     OF INTEREST
The Board and Management of the Library are aware of the 

potential conflict of interest that may arise in the supply chain 

management process. This is due to the small staff component 

of the Library in senior positions. Within this confinement 

delegations are carefully assigned in an effort to minimize 

conflict of interest. This matter was not raised during the recent 

internal or external audits. 

11. CODE OF CONDUCT 

The Library’s conduct is guided by its Legislation, Conditions of 

Service, Disciplinary Code, shared value statement and values. 

No formal Code of Conduct has been developed. Breach of 

any of the above is addressed through approved internal 

disciplinary practices. 

12. HEALTH SAFETY AND   
    ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 
Compliance:

The South African Library for the Blind complies with the 

OHS&E Act, 85 of 1993, in the following manner:

Health and Safety Representatives: Compliance according to 

H&S act: Every Institution/business/entity, which employs 20 or 

more people, in a shop/office type environment must comply 

by having ONE representative for every 100 workers, or part 

thereof.  The SALB has 4 Health and Safety Representatives for 

just over 40 employees. 

First Aid: Compliance according to H&S act: One First Aider 

must be available during a shift. The SALB has a minimum of 3 

qualified First Aiders per shift.

H&S Committee: The Representatives must have regular 

meetings to discuss OH&S issues. This has been changed in 

the new Act to a H&S committee meeting once every quarter, 

and that the minutes of these meetings must now be signed 

by the CEO of the organisation.  The SALB conducted these 

meetings regularly when there were contractors on site. These 

will now take place once a quarter and the minutes signed 

by the CEO. The minutes of these meetings will be kept for a 

minimum of 3 years, on file.

Evacuation plans: Evacuation procedures must be in place and 

personnel must be made aware of procedures. The SALB does 

have a comprehensive evacuation plan, and emergency 

evacuation drills are held at least twice a year.

The Library has purchased an Evac-Chair to assist people 

down a staircase. Training on how to use this chair to evacuate 

an injured staff member from the building in the event of an 

injury which prevents them from doing so themselves, will be 

given to the First Aiders.

The fire extinguishers in the Library are serviced and checked 

annually by A&L Fire in Port Elizabeth under contract by NDPW. 

Proof of the visits can be seen on the service card of each fire 

extinguisher.

The elevator in the Library is checked once a month, by 

Schindler, also under contract by NDPW.  Records of these 

monthly inspections and the repairs that were required, if 

necessary, are noted on these inspection documents, and are 

kept on file.

13. COMPANY / BOARD 
    SECRETARY
Not applicable. 

14. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
The core function of the Library, i.e. to render a library and 

information service to blind and print handicapped people is a 

social responsibility service. Services are rendered to any blind 

person free of charge. The Library expanded the production of 

its pre-school tactile picture books to include two 

Non-Governmental Organisations as a job creation and skills 
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development program. The Library also provides volunteer 

work to more than 50 narrators, proof readers, copy typists and 

braillists across South Africa who assist the library to produce 

Audio and Braille reading material.

15. AUDIT 
COMMITTEE REPORT
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year 

ended 31 March 2014

Audit committee responsibility 

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its 

responsibilities arising from Section 51 (1)(a)(ii) of the Public 

Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulation 27.1. The 

Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate 

formal terms of reference as its Audit Committee Charter, has 

regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has 

discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein, except 

that we did not meet four times during the current financial year 

as noted in the auditors’ management letter. 

The Effectiveness of Internal Control 

Our review of the findings of the Internal Audit work, which was 

based on the risk assessments conducted in the public entity 

revealed certain weaknesses, which were then raised with the 

public entity. 

The following internal audit work was completed during the 

year under review: 

Performance of internal audit assignments 

•	 Human	Resources	and	Payroll	

•	 Corporate	Governance	and	Compliance	

•	 Commitments,	Contracts,	Projects	and	Contingencies	

•	 Follow-up	of	internal	and	external	audit	control	

 deficiencies 

Perform financial and control audits 

•	 Fixed	Asset	Management	

•	 Banking,	Treasury	and	Funding	

•	 Procurement	including	BEE,	supply	chain	management		 	

and expenditure 

Audit of performance indicators 

The following were areas of concern (findings rated as high 

risk): 

•	 A	cheque	was	unaccounted	for	and	

•	 There	is	inadequate	segregation	of	duties	between	the	

 HR and payroll function. 

In addition, the audit committee raised the concern that there 

is no audit finding database which lists the findings from both 

internal and external audits and the relevant follow up action or 

action plan. This database should be maintained by 

management and reviewed on a regular basis by internal audit 

to ensure that the relevant action plans are implemented and 

the audit findings cleared. 

In-Year Management and Monthly/Quarterly 
Report 

The public entity has reported monthly and quarterly to the 

Treasury as is required by the PFMA. 

Evaluation of Financial Statements

We have reviewed the annual financial statements prepared by 

the public entity. We could not fulfil our responsibility of review-

ing the financial statements on a timely basis as these were 

only provided to us after they had been provided to the Auditor 

General. Thus we reviewed and gave our findings to manage-

ment after the financial statements had been provided to the 

Auditor General. 

Auditor’s Report 

We have reviewed the entity’s implementation plan for audit 

issues raised in the prior year and we are satisfied that the 

matters have been adequately resolved except for the following: 

During the audit of predetermined objectives it was noted that 

certain of the reported figures were not complete. This issue 

was raised during the prior year audit is in the process of being 

resolved. 

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of 

the Auditor-General on the annual financial statements and is 

of the opinion that the audited annual financial statements be 

accepted and read together with the report of the 

Auditor-General. 

___________________ 

Chané Grobler CA(A) 

Chairperson of the Audit Committee 

South African Library for the Blind 

22 July 2014
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1.  INTRODUCTION 
Overview of HR matters at the public entity 

The Human Resource Department consists of one full time staff 

member, serving 42 staff members on the full time 

establishment of the Library, 4 contract staff, ad-hoc casual 

staff and a number of Narrators and Proofreaders who receive 

a stipend for their work. 

During the year under review, the board of the Library approved 

a new organisational structure for the Library which will be 

incrementally implemented. In terms of this structure, there will 

be four senior management positions, to support the Director 

of the Library in his role to direct the staff of the Library and to 

ensure that our blind and visually impaired members are 

receiving the best possible service in line with the 

Organisational mandate and objectives. 

HR priorities for the year under review and the 
impact of these priorities

Two HR specific priorities are listed in the Performance

Information section earlier in this document. The other HR 

priority was the review of the organisational structure, as 

mentioned in the bullet above. The board of the Library 

approved the structure during July 2013. The lack of sufficient 

funding is the main cause why the new structure is not fully 

implemented at this stage. It was decided to incrementally 

implement the structure as funding becomes available from the 

Department of Arts and Culture.

Workforce planning framework and key 
strategies to attract and recruit a skilled and 
capable workforce

The SA Library for the Blind makes use of Recruitment 

agencies to try and recruit suitably qualified candidates for 

senior and/or specialised positions. One of the most prominent 

challenges for attracting and retaining suitable staff in these 

positions, is our below industry standard salary scales. The 

SALB will embark on a formal market analysis process of 

comparable salaries in order to submit a well informed 

document to the Department of Arts and Culture for 

consideration. 

Employee performance management 
framework 

The SA Library for the Blind assesses the performance of 

employees under probation quarterly and the performance 

assessment of permanent staff is done on an annual basis. 

This assessment is linked to each employee’s post profile and 

good performance is financially rewarded if the required 

standards are sufficiently met.

Employee wellness programme 

Three employees with severe/serious illnesses have been 

accommodated through the SALB wellness initiatives, either to 

undergo professional medical assessments, or to work shorter 

hours. 

HR policy development 

The policies of the SALB are reviewed regularly and updated as 

and when required. All staff are involved in the process at 

different intervals and the Board finally approves the policies.

Achievements

One of our employees, Mr A Brooks completed 30 years 

of service at the SA Library for the Blind. He was the first 

employee at SALB to attain this commendable milestone. Two 

other employees completed 20 years of service at SALB and 

one other completed 10 years of service.  They all benefited 

from the improved long service recognition awards policy of 

the SALB as well.

Eight senior members of staff completed a two day internal 

training course on Project Management. Five staff members 

made use of the SALB study program for studying for formal 

qualifications and a number of other formal short courses and 

conferences were completed or attended by staff.

HR challenges faced by the SA Library for the 
Blind

The main challenge faced by the SALB is that of attracting and 

retaining suitably qualified staff, especially in senior and 

specialised positions. This is mostly as a result of our salary 

scales that are not market related. We have experienced the 

greatest challenge at the CFO level.

Future HR plans / goals

Full salary benchmark process and implementation thereof to 

attract competent and suitably qualified staff.

Implementation of our Apprenticeship program in order to 

expose blind/visually impaired scholars to the working 

environment at SALB in order to give them an idea what is 

done in the various career paths, such as Finance, Human 

Resource, Administration, Library Services, Production 

Services, etc. 
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2. HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS 
Personnel Cost by programme

Programme/
activity/objective

Total Expenditure for 
the entity (R’000)

Personnel Expenditure 
(R’000)

Personnel exp. as 
a % of total exp. 

(R’000)

No. of 
employees

Average personnel 
cost per employee 

(R’000)

Full Time Staff 20 707 10 756 52 42 256

DSRAC EC Project 20 707 426  2 2 213

KZN Library Project 20 707 158  1 1 158

Mpumalanga Library 
Project

20 707 162  1 1 162

The contracts for the two staff members in the KZN Library Project and Mpumalanga Library Project ended prior to the end of 
the financial year. The personnel costs in those two categories are therefore not for a full 12 months.

Level 
Personnel Expenditure 

(R’000)
% of personnel exp. to total 

personnel cost (R’000)
No. of employees

Average personnel cost 
per employee (R’000)

Top Management

Senior Management 945 9 1 945

Professional qualified 433 4 1 433

Skilled 7 898 73 30 263

Semi-skilled 1 480 14 10 148

Unskilled

TOTAL 10 756 100 42 256

This table is calculated on the salary cost for full-time staff only, as contract salaries are reported within the specific project 
accounts in the Financial Statements.

Performance Rewards

Programme/activity/objective Performance rewards Personnel Expenditure (R’000)
% of performance rewards to 
total personnel cost (R’000)

Top Management

Senior Management 15 945 0.14

Professional qualified 0 433 0

Skilled 118 7 898 1.09

Semi-skilled 21 1 480 0.20

Unskilled

TOTAL 154 10 756 1.43

NOTE: The performance reward totals are not actual expenses, but provisions based on an average percentage payout during 
the prior year.

Programme/
activity/objective

Personnel
 Expenditure 

(R’000)

Training
Expenditure

(R’000)

Training 
Expenditure as a % 
of Personnel Cost.

No. of employees 
trained

Avg training  cost 
per employee

Study Grants 10 756 57 0.53 5 11

Skills Development & 
Training

10 756 42 0.39 18 2

Conferences & 
Seminars

10 756 25 0.23 6 4

Training Costs
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Employment and vacancies

Programme/
activity/objective

2012/2013 
No. of Employees

2013/2014 Approved 
Posts

2013/2014
No. of Employees

2013/2014 
Vacancies

% of vacancies

Full Time Staff 40 51 42 9 100

DSRAC EC Project 2 2 2 0

KZN Library Project 1 1 0 0

Mpumalanga Library 
Project

1 1 0 0

The contracts for the KZN and Mpumalanga Library Projects terminated at the end of October 2013 when the funding came to 
an end.

Programme/
activity/objective

2012/2013 
No. of Employees

2013/2014 
Approved Posts

2013/2014
No. of Employees

2013/2014 
Vacancies

% of vacancies

Top Management

Senior Management 1 1 1 0 0

Professional qualified 0 4 1 3 33

Skilled 29 35 30 5 56

Semi-skilled 10 11 10 1 11

Unskilled

TOTAL 40 51 42 9 100

Only two of the four positions in the “Professional qualified” 
section were funded, being the position of Chief Financial 
Officer and the position of Senior Manager: Library Information 
Service (LIS). The recruitment for these two positions was 
contracted out to a Recruitment Agency in order to invite 
applications from suitably qualified applicants throughout 
South Africa. A Chief Financial Officer was appointed in July 

2013. The position of Senior Manager: LIS was only filled 
in May 2014 and will reflect in the Annual Report for the 
2014/2015 period. Additional funding will be sought from the 
Department of Arts and Culture for the filling of other critical 
posts.
Internal staff are encouraged to apply for any available position, 
but their skills and experience is measured against the 
minimum requirements of the position and other applicants. 

Employment changes

Salary Band
Employment at 

beginning of period
Appointments Terminations 

Employment at end 
of the period

Top Management

Senior Management 1 0 0 1

Professional qualified 0 1 0 1

Skilled 29 2 1 30

Semi-skilled 10 1 0 11

Unskilled

Total 40 4 1 43

Reasons for staff leaving

Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Death

Resignation

Dismissal

Retirement 1 100

Ill health

Expiry of contract

Other

Total 1 100

The staff member above (Head: Library Services) took early retirement. The vacant position will be advertised once the newly 
appointed (May 2014) Senior Manager LIS has settled into her post. The position will be addressed based on the assessment and 
recommendation of the SeniorManager. 
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Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action

Nature of disciplinary Action Number

Verbal Warning 2

Written Warning

Final Written warning

Dismissal

31

Levels MALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top 
Management

Senior 
Management

1 1

Professional 
qualified

1 1 1 0 1

Skilled 4 4 3 3 2 2

Semi-skilled 2 2 4 4 1 1

Unskilled

TOTAL 6 7 8 8 0 1 4 4

Levels FEMALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top 
Management

Senior 
Management

Professional 
qualified

0 1

Skilled 7 12 11 10 3 3

Semi-skilled 2 1 1 1 1

Unskilled

TOTAL 9 14 12 11 3 4

Levels DISABLED STAFF

Male Female

Current Target Current Target

Top Management

Senior Management

Professional qualified

Skilled 1 2

Semi-skilled

Unskilled

TOTAL 1 2

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status



Nature of disciplinary Action Number

Verbal Warning 2

Written Warning

Final Written warning

Dismissal

Levels MALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top 
Management

Senior 
Management

1 1

Professional 
qualified

1 1 1 0 1

Skilled 4 4 3 3 2 2

Semi-skilled 2 2 4 4 1 1

Unskilled

TOTAL 6 7 8 8 0 1 4 4

Levels FEMALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top 
Management

Senior 
Management

Professional 
qualified

0 1

Skilled 7 12 11 10 3 3

Semi-skilled 2 1 1 1 1

Unskilled

TOTAL 9 14 12 11 3 4
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DIRECTOR’S 
REPORT
       
   
       
   
       
   
The Director presents his report of the Library for the 
year ended 31 March 2014.
       
  

1 DIRECTOR AND CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD   
  
 The Director is Mr F Hendrikz and his business and postal addresses are as follows:   
    
 The Director     
    
 South African Library for the Blind     
    
 112b High Street / P O Box 115     
    
 GRAHAMSTOWN     
    
 6139 / 6140     
       
     
 The Chairperson of the Board is Dr William Rowland and his postal address is as follows :   
   
 Unit 23, Upper Waterkloof     
    
 173 Regulus Avenue     
    
 Waterkloof Ridge     
    
 0181 
      

2 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE LIBRARY   
      
 The S A Library for the Blind is a National Library for Blind and Visually Impaired readers, which renders a free service  
 to its members.     
  

3 OPERATING RESULTS     
    
 The deficit of R 616 000 can be attributed to the following:  
       
 Due to the difficulty in estimating donations, bequests and other sundry income, these incomes are not budgeted for  
 during the budgeting process as the Library cannot rely on such income. The increase spent on Daisy Players and  
 spare parts also contributed to the deficit (R2.8 million).     
     
 During the year a review of the fixed asset register was conducted and all assets found to be no longer in use were  
 scrapped. This resulted in depreciation being lower than budgeted.    
      

4 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS     
     
 GROSS  INCOME     
 Gross income for the year totalled R 20 190 000 which represents an increase of 1% over the previous year.  
 

5 EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE SHEET DATE  
 No other events to disclose.
 

 
 FRANCOIS HENDRIKZ     
 DIRECTOR (CEO)     
       
 Date: 31 July 2014     
       
 
      
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014 
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       Notes 2014 2013
ASSETS        R 000’s   R 000’s 
       
Non-current assets      1 160 1 463
       
Property, plant and equipment     5 1 150 1 439
Intangible assets     6 10 24
       
Current Assets      25 230 23 598
       
Trade and other receivables     7 206 219
Cash and cash equivalents     8 25 024 23 379
       
       
TOTAL ASSETS      26 390 25 061
       
       
LIABILITIES       
       
Non Current Liabilities       8 842 6 999
       
Government grants     18 5 814 4 063
Unspent conditional receipts     19 342 498
Provision for Post Retirement Benefits    10 2 686 2 438
       
       
Current Liabilities      1 348 1 246
       
Trade and other payables     16 894 887
Provisions      17 454 359
       
TOTAL LIABILITIES      10 190 8 245
       
       
Net Assets       
       
Capital and Reserves      16 200 16 816
       
Accumulated surplus      16 200 16 816
       
Total Net Assets      16 200 16 816
       
       
TOTAL NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES     26 390 25 061 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2014
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     2014 2013
    Notes  R 000’s   R 000’s 

     Actual Actual
Revenue   2   
 Transfers and subsidies  2.1  15 626  14 579 
 Gifts, sponsorships and donations  2.2  433  953 
 Other income  2.3  3 151   3 616 
 Interest received  3  980  934 

Total Revenue   20 190  20 082 
       
Expenditure        
 Administrative expenses  11  (818) (728)
 Staff costs  12  (10 756) (9 726)
 Marketing costs  13  (150) (146)
 Audit fees  14  (347)  (388)
 Other operating expenses  15  (8 735) (5 689)

Total Expenditure    (20 806)  (16 677)
       
       
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR   (616) 3 405

     
    Notes   Accumulated Surplus 
      R’000 
     
Balance at 1 April 2012    12 834 
     
Prior period adjustment   24.2   577 
     
Restated balance at 1 April 2012    13 411 
     
Surplus for the year per 2013 financial statements     2 954 
 Prior period adjustment to 2013 surplus  24.2   451 
     
Restated balance at 31 March 2013    16 816 
     
Deficit for this year    (616)
     
Balance as at 31 March 2014    16 200 
     

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
AS AT 31 MARCH 2014

41

THE SOUTH AFRICAN LIBRARY FOR THE BLIND

THE SOUTH AFRICAN LIBRARY FOR THE BLIND



     2014 2013
    Notes  R 000’s   R 000’s 

     Actual Actual
Revenue   2   
 Transfers and subsidies  2.1  15 626  14 579 
 Gifts, sponsorships and donations  2.2  433  953 
 Other income  2.3  3 151   3 616 
 Interest received  3  980  934 

Total Revenue   20 190  20 082 
       
Expenditure        
 Administrative expenses  11  (818) (728)
 Staff costs  12  (10 756) (9 726)
 Marketing costs  13  (150) (146)
 Audit fees  14  (347)  (388)
 Other operating expenses  15  (8 735) (5 689)

Total Expenditure    (20 806)  (16 677)
       
       
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR   (616) 3 405

     
    Notes   Accumulated Surplus 
      R’000 
     
Balance at 1 April 2012    12 834 
     
Prior period adjustment   24.2   577 
     
Restated balance at 1 April 2012    13 411 
     
Surplus for the year per 2013 financial statements     2 954 
 Prior period adjustment to 2013 surplus  24.2   451 
     
Restated balance at 31 March 2013    16 816 
     
Deficit for this year    (616)
     
Balance as at 31 March 2014    16 200 
     

    Notes 2014 2013
      R 000’s   R 000’s   
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES      
 
       
       
  Cash flows from operating activities     (652)  2 655 
  Changes in working capital     (85)  (285)
       
Cash generated from operations    (737)  2 370 
       
 Finance income    970   936 
       
       
Net cash flows from operating activities  20.1 233   3 306 
       
       
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES      
 
       
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment    (183)  (79)
Acquisition of intangible assets    -   (8)
       
       
Net cash flows from investing activities    (183)  (87)
       
       
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES      
 
       
Project funding    1 595   344 
       
       
Net cash flows from financing activities    1 595   344 
       
       
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    1 645   3 563 
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   23 379   19 816 
       
       
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR  8  25 024   23 379 
       
       

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
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     Actual 2012/13  Original budget   Adjustments   Final budget   Actual amounts   Difference 
Revenue    R 000’S   R 000’S   R 000’S   R 000’S   R 000’S   R 000’S 
Government subsidies   17 225   18 963   -   18 963   18 280   683 
Department of Arts and Culture subsidy  14 579  15 626   -   15 626   15 626   - 
Government grants - projects   2 646   -   -   -   2 654   (2 654)
Capital Works brought forward   -   897   -   897   -   897 
Capital Works   -  - 2  440   -   2 440   -   2 440 
Other Income    420   -   -   -   497   (497)
Gain on recognition of previously unrecognised assets  550   -   -   -   -   - 
Gifts, Sponsorships and Donations   953   -   -   -   433   (433)
Interest received   934  815   -   815   980   (165)
Transfer from reserves  -       
       
     20 082   19 778   -   19 778   20 190   (412)
       
     Actual 2012/13  Original budget   Adjustments   Final budget   Actual amounts   Difference 
Payments    R 000’S   R 000’S   R 000’S   R 000’S   R 000’S   R 000’S 
Compensation of employees   9 726   11 614   -   11 614   10 756   858 
Salaries and wages   7 743   8 937   -   8 937   8 564   373 
Social contributions   1 983   2 677   -   2 677   2 192   485 
Use of goods and services   5 411   5 656   -   5 656   6 619   (963)
Audit fees    388   250   -   250   347   (97)
Bad debts    41   -   -   -   1   (1)
Bank charges    31   40   -   40   39   1 
Board costs    136   200   -   200   187   13 
Book production services: audio and Braille  201   600   -   600   102   498 
Communication   229  140   -   140   292   (152)
Consultants, contractors and special services  243   300   -   300   137   163 
Corporate Governance   34   25   -   25   14   11 
Courier and delivery   8    -    646   (646)
Entertainment    2   10   -   10   1   9 
General Administrative Expenses   141   618   -   618   243   375 
General Fees for Services   12   20   -   20   10   10 
Legal fees    24   15   -   15   54   (39)
Insurance    124   180   -   180   143   37 
Josie Wood     358   312    312   312   - 
Library and information services   172   587   -   587   436   151 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets  9   -   -   -   16   (16)
Loss on foreign exchange   41   -   -   -   -   - 
Marketing costs   146  439   -   439   150   289 
Minor assets less than R5000   9   45   -   45   -   45 
Operating lease expenses: equipment  37   40   -   40   38   2 
Project expenses   2 098   1 000   -   1 000   2 734   (1 734)
Repairs and maintenance   326   250   -   250   155   95 
Research and development   -   10    10   -   10 
Stationery and printing   63   90   -   90   58   32 
Stores/consumables   1   -   -   -   1   (1)
Training and staff development   120   110   -   110   68   42 
Travel and subsistence   417   375   -   375   435   (60)
Depreciation    516   428   -   428   470   (42)
Daisy Players    387   -   -   -   2 778   (2 778)
       
     16 040   17 698   -   17 698   20 623   (2 925)
       
Revenue less expenditure   3 405   -   -   -   (616)  2 513  
     
     Actual 2012/13   Original budget   Adjustments   Final budget   Actual amounts   Difference 
Capital Expenditure   R 000’S  R 000’S   R 000’S  R 000’S  R 000’S  R 000’S 
Fixed Assets    -   1 897   -   1 897   -   1 897 
Vehicles    55   -   -   -   -   - 
Computer and office equipment   511   98   -   98   98   - 
Furniture and fittings   59   28   -   28   28   - 
Tools and equipment   4   57    57   57   - 
Intangible Assets   8   -   -   -   -   - 
       
     637   2 080      2 080   183   1 897 
       
Total expenditure   16 677   19 778   -   19 778   20 806   (1 028)
       

STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
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1 Accounting Policies         
          
1.1 Legislation             
 The South African Library for the Blind is governed by a board appointed by the Minister of Arts and Culture, in terms of the South   
 African Library for the Blind Act (Act 91 of 1998). As a partly state-funded institution, its financial affairs are subject to the controls   
 and oversight measures implemented in respect of the public sector and public entities by the provisions of the the Public Finance   
 Management Act (PFMA) (Act 1 of 1999) and Treasury Regulations, and is classified as a Schedule 3A Public Entity.   
            
1.2 Taxation              
 As from 1 April 2005, the S A Library for the Blind was deregistered as a value added tax (VAT) vendor due to changes in the VAT Act. 
              
1.3 Basis of Preparation            
 The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP). The financial   
 statements are prepared on a historical cost basis and accounting policies have been applied consistently with those in the previous  
 year, except as otherwise indicated.         
          
1.4 Presentation Currency         
 These annual financial statements are presented in South African Rands.       
           
1.5 Going Concern            
 These annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.      
            
1.6 GRAP standards approved not yet effective         
 The following GRAP standards summarized below, have been approved but not yet effective as at 31 March 2013, and have not   
 been early adopted by the entity:         
 GRAP 18 – Segment reporting         
 GRAP 20 – Related Party Disclosures         
 GRAP 105 – Transfer of functions between entities under common control      
 GRAP 106 – Transfer of functions between entities not under common control      
 GRAP 107 – Mergers         
 GRAP 108 – Statutory receivables         
          
 We do not expect the impact of these standards to have a material effect on the financial statements.    
              
1.7 Comparative Information           
 Prior year comparatives:         
 When the presentation or classification of items in the annual financial statements is amended, prior period comparative amounts are  
 reclassified and restated.         
           
 The nature and reasons for the reclassification and restatement are disclosed in the notes to the annual financial statements.  
              
1.8 Conditional Grants and Receipts         
 Income received from conditional grants, donations and subsidies are recognised to the extent that the library has complied with   
 any of the criteria, conditions or obligations embodied in the agreement.  To the extent that the criteria, conditions or obligations have  
 not been met, a liability is recognised and funds invested until it is utilised.  Interest earned on the investment is treated in 
 accordance with grant conditions.  If it is payable to the funder it is recorded as part of the creditor.
             
 Grants and receipts of a revenue nature         
 Income is transferred to the statement of financial performance as revenue to the extent that the criteria, conditions or obligations   
 have been met.         
          
 In determining whether a stipulation is a condition or a restriction, the library considers whether a requirement to return the asset is  
 enforceable and would be enforced by the transferor. If the transferor could not enforce a requirement to return the asset, or if past   
 experience with the transferor indicates that the transferor never enforces the requirement to return the transferred asset,   
 then the library concludes that the stipulation has the form but not the substance of a condition and is therefore a 
 restriction. Where the library has no experience with the transferor, or has not previously breached stipulations that would prompt the  
 transferor to decide whether to enforce a return of the asset, it would assume that the transferor would enforce the stipulation.  
         
1.9 Provisions            
 Provisions are recognised when the library has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events, and it is probable  
 that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation, and  a   
 reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the statement of financial position 
 reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.        
         
1.10 Property, plant and equipment          
 Initial measurement         
 Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised when future benefits are probable and the cost or fair value can be determined  
 reliably.         
 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable 
 purchase taxes, and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. Any trade 
 discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the purchase price.         

ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
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1.10 Property, plant and equipment (Cont.)

 Examples of directly attributable costs are: site preparation, delivery and handling costs and professional fees. The initial estimate of  
 the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also included in the cost of property,   
 plant and equipment.         
 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a 
 combination of monetary and non-monetary assets was measured at its fair value.  If the acquired item could not be measured at its  
 fair value, its cost was measured at the carrying amount of the asset given up.       
          
 Subsequent measurement         
 The library applies the cost model to property, plant and equipment.        
 Property, plant and equipment, is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.    
 Property, plant and equipment is stated at fair value at date of acquisition less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
 impairment where assets have been acquired by grant or donation.        
 
 Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment is capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits or   
 potential service delivery of the assets are enhanced in excess of the original assessed standard of performance.  If expenditure only  
 restores the originally assessed standard of performance, it is regarded as repairs and maintenance, and is expensed.   
   
 Impairment         
 Where items of property, plant and equipment have been impaired, the carrying value is adjusted by the impairment loss, which is   
 recognised as an expense in the Statement of Financial Performance in the period that the impairment is identified.   
             
 Derecognition         
 Property, plant and equipment is derecognised when there is a disposal or no future economic benefits are to be derived.  
 The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
 between the sales proceeds and the carrying value and is recognised in the statement of financial performance.  Depreciation is   
 charged to the statement of financial performance.         
       
 Depreciation         
 Depreciation is calculated on cost, using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Depreciation only   
 commences when the asset is available for use. 
         
 The annual depreciation/amortisation rates are based on the following estimated asset useful lives:-      
  Computer equipment   33.33%  Office equipment  20.00% 
  Vehicles     20.00%  Furniture and fittings 16.67% 
  Equipment    20.00%  Buildings   2.00% 
          
 Review of residual values          
 The residual values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed on an annual basis.      
         
 Review of useful lives          
 The useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed on an annual basis.      
         
 Review of depreciation method         
 The depreciation method is reviewed on an annual basis.         
         
 Impairment of cash and non-cash generating assets         
 Property, plant and equipment will be assessed at each reporting date for any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, 
 the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  The impairment charged to the statement of financial performance represents the   
 excess of the carrying value over the recoverable amount of the asset.     
 An impairment is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have  
 been determined had no impairment been recognised.  A reversal of the impairment is recognised in the statement of financial 
 performance.         
          
1.11 Financial instruments             
 Financial instruments are recognised when the library becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument, and are   
 initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or liability not at fair value through the statement of 
 financial performance, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or liability.  The  
 subsequent measurement of financial instruments is dealt with as follows:       
  
 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred, and  
 the library has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership, or when the library loses control of contractual rights that  
 comprise the assets.  Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or  
 when it expires.         
       
1.11.1 Financial assets             
 The library classifies its financial assets according to the following categories:       
        
 1.   Held to maturity          
 2.   Loans and receivables          
          
 The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial asset is acquired, and is as follows:    
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1.11 Financial Instruments (Cont. )

 1. Held to maturity investments are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, where the library   
  has the positive intent and ability to hold the investment to maturity. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost,   
  using the effective interest rate method. Any adjustment is recorded in the statement of financial performance in the period   
  in which it arises.        
          
 2. Loans and receivables are financial assets that are created by providing money, goods or services directly to a debtor.    
  They are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any adjustment is recorded in   
  the statement of financial performance in the period in which it arises.        
          
 An assessment is performed at each statement of financial position date to determine whether objective evidence exists that a   
 financial asset is impaired.  The carrying amounts of cash investments are reduced to recognise any decline, in the value of individual  
 investments. This reduction in carrying value is recognised in the statement of financial performance.     
 Financial assets consist of:         
          
1.11.1.1 Cash and cash equivalents         
 Cash includes cash on hand and cash with banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are held with 
 registered banking institutions with maturities of three months or less and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held on call with   
 banks.           
          
1.11.1.2 Trade and other receivables         
 Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value. Bad debts are written off in the year in  which they are identified   
 as irrecoverable.  Amounts receivable within 12 months from the reporting date are classified as current.  A provision for impairment  
 of other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the library will not be able to collect all amounts due 
 according to the original terms of receivables.  An estimate is made for doubtful debts based on past default experience of all 
 outstanding amounts at year-end.         
          
1.11.2 Financial liabilities         
 The library measures all financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, at amortised costs, using the effective interest rate   
 method (excluding provisions). Amounts receivable within 12 months from the reporting date are classified as current.  Financial 
 liabilities consist of:         
          
1.11.2.1 Trade and other payables         
 Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate  
 method.         
          
1.12 Revenue recognition            
 Revenue from exchange transactions         
 Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and these benefits can be 
 measured reliably.  The Library does not as a rule charge fees to its readers.       
  
 Where work is done for institutions, a fee is calculated on the cost of producing the required material and is dependant on a variety 
 of cost factors.         
 Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principle outstanding.     
            
 Revenue from non-exchange transactions          
 Government grants are recorded as a liability when they become receivable and are then recognised as income on a systematic   
 basis over the periods necessary to match the grants with the related costs, which they are intended to compensate.   
      
 Gifts, sponsorships and donations are recognised on a cash basis.        
        
1.13 Leases               
 Leases are classified as finance leases where substantially all the risks and rewards associated with ownership of an asset are 
 transferred to the library.  Assets subject to finance lease agreements are capitalised at their cash cost equivalent and the 
 corresponding liabilities are raised. The cost of the item of property, plant and equipment is depreciated at appropriate rates on 
 the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life.  Lease payments are allocated between the lease finance cost and the 
 capital repayment using the effective interest rate method. Lease finance costs are expensed when incurred.    
     
 Operating leases are those leases that do not fall within the scope of the above definition. Payments made under operating 
 leases are charged to the statement of financial performance on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.   
          
1.14 Foreign currency transactions           
 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially accounted for at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction. Exchange   
 differences arising on the settlement of creditors or on reporting of creditors at rates different from those at which they were initially  
 recorded are recognised in surplus or deficit in the period.         
        
1.15 Unauthorised expenditure           
 Unauthorised expenditure is expenditure that has not been budgeted for, expenditure that is not in terms of the conditions of an 
 allocation received from another sphere of government, public entity or organ of state and expenditure in the form of a grant that   
 is not permitted in terms of the PFMA (Act 1 of 1999). Unauthorised expenditure is accounted for as an expense in the statement of  
 financial performance and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.  
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1.16 Irregular expenditure         
 Irregular expenditure is expenditure that is contrary to the PFMA (Act 1 of 1999) or is in contravention of the library’s supply chain   
 management policies.  Irregular expenditure is accounted for as expenditure in the statement of financial performance 
 and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.    
        
1.17 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure             
 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been   
 exercised.  Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is accounted for as expenditure in the statement of financial performance and where  
 recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.      
           
1.18 Events after the reporting date            
 Events after the reporting date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the 
 reporting date and the date when the annual financial statements are authorised for issue.  Two types of events can be identified:  
       
 1.   those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting date); and  
 2. those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting date).   
       
 The library will adjust the amounts recognised in the annual financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting date   
 once the event occurred.  The library will disclose the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that   
 such estimate cannot be made in respect of all material non-adjusting events, where non-disclosure could influence the economic 
 decisions of users taken on the basis of the annual financial statements.        
        
1.19 Related parties         
          
 Individuals as well as their close family members, and/or entities are related parties if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly,   
 to control or jointly control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and/or operating   
 decisions. Key management personnel are defined as the Director, Chief Financial Officer and all other personnel reporting 
 directly to the Director or as designated by the Director.         
       
1.20 Employee benefits         
          
1.20.1 Defined contribution plans         
 A defined contribution plan is a plan under which the entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity.  The entity has no legal   
 or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees 
 the benefits relating to service in the current or prior periods.        
        
 The entity’s contributions to the defined contribution funds are established in terms of the rules governing those plans.  Contributions  
 are recognised in the statement of financial performance in the period in which the service is rendered by the relevant 
 employees. The entity has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.     
        
1.20.2 Defined benefit plans         
 A defined benefit plan is a post-retirement benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.     
        
1.20.2.1 Post-retirement health care benefits:         
 The entity has an obligation to provide post-retirement health care benefits to all of its retirees.  According to the rules of the 
 Medical Aid Fund, with which the entity is associated, a member (who is on the current conditions of service), on retirement, 
 is entitled to remain a continued member of the Medical Aid Fund, in which case the entity is liable for a two thirds portion 
 of the medical aid membership fee.           
          
 The defined benefit liability is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and unrecognised actuarial 
 gains and losses, reduced by unrecognised past service costs. The plan is unfunded. The present value of the defined benefit 
 obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method, incorporating actuarial assumptions and a discount rate based 
 on the government bond rate. Valuations of these obligations are carried out every two to three years by independent qualified 
 actuaries.         
          
 Actuarial gains or losses are accounted for in the statement of financial performance in full in the year in which it occurs.    
             
1.20.3 Short-term employee benefits         
          
 The cost of all short-term employee benefits, such as leave pay, is recognised during the period in which the employee renders 
 the related service (such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses and non monetary benefits such as medical care).  
        
 The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 
 obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.        
        
1.21 Intangible assets         
          
 An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance.      
        
 Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.         
          
 The library applies the cost model to intangible assets.         
       
 Intangible assets are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.     
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  - 1

1.21 Intangible assets  (Cont.)
        
 The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting period date if there 
 are indicators present that there is a change from the previous estimate.       
        
 Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, as follows:     
    
  Software and licences   33.33%     
          
1.22 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty        
         
 In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
 represented in the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement 
 is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the   
 financial statements. Significant judgements include:         
        
 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment         
          
 The entity’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for property, plant and equipment.  
 This estimate is based on the pattern in which an asset’s future economic benefits or service potential are expected to be consumed. 
          
 Provision for impairment         
          
 On receivables an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. 
 The impairment is measured as the difference between the receivable’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
 cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition.      
           
 Post retirement benefits         
          
 The present value of the post retirement obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis 
 using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost include the discount rate. Any changes in 
 these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of post retirement obligations.      
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        2014 2013
        R 000’s R 000’s
2  Revenue        
 
  An analysis of SALB’s revenue is as follows:
       
2.1  Transfers and subsidies received        
  National Department of Arts and Culture     15 626   14 579 
  Total      15 626   14 579
 
2.2  Gifts, sponsorships and donations       
  Donations and bequests      312   860 
  Audio production project      72   31 
  Braille production project      49   62 
  Total      433   953 
         
2.3  Other income         
  Daisy players      -   4 
  Provincial co-ordinator project      -   828 
  African language project      154   164 
  Kwazulu Natal Library projects      652   247 
  Mpumalanga Library projects      738   268 
  Library project (Dept. of Sport, Recreation, Arts and Culture, Eastern Cape)   1 110   1 139 
  Josie Wood Project - school project     312   358 
  Gain on recognition of previously unrecognised assets     -   550 
  Sundry income      185   58 
  Total      3 151   3 616 
           
  Total revenue (excluding interest income)     19 210   19 148 
    
3  Interest received      980   934
 
4  Reconciliation of budget surplus (deficit) with the surplus (deficit) in the statement of financial performance   
      
  Net (deficit) surplus per the statement of financial performance   (616) 3 405
  Adjusted for:        
 
   - Interest received on investments in excess of budgeted amount    (164)  (84)
   - Donations and bequests received and not budgeted for     (433)  (953)
   -  Gain on recognition of previously unrecognised assets     (550)
   - Income from sale of Daisy players received and not budgeted for   -  (4)
   - Sundry income and profit on asset disposal received and not budgeted for  (58)  (58)
   - Reassessment of depreciation on review of fixed asset register   97   78 
   - Adjustment of Accumulated Surplus     -   - 
   - Income received from outside projects not budgeted for    -   (728)
   - Other expenditure (under) over expensed as per approved budget   1 174   (1 106)
          
 
  Net surplus/(deficit) per approved budget     -     -   
         
5  Property, plant and equipment        
 
       Buildings   Motor  Computer & Furniture  Equipment Total    
      Vehicles  Office   & Fittings   
       Equipment
    R 000’s   R 000’s  R 000’s R 000’s R 000’s  R 000’s 
  Year ended 31/3/2013         
  Net book value 1 April 2012   63   21   1 055   57  110  1 306 
  Cost or valuation    63   145   3 207   98   250  3 763 
  Accumulated depreciation    -   (124)  (2 152)  (41) (140) (2 457)

  Additions   -   -   78   1   -   79 
  Gain on recognition of previously
  unrecognised assets”   -   55   433   58   4  550 
  Disposals   -   -   (7)  (2)  -     (9)
  Depreciation charge   (5)  (21)  (420)  (16)  (25) (487)

  Net carrying amount          
  at 31 March 2013   58   55   1 139   98   89  1 439 
  Cost or valuation    63   200   2 699   155   254  3 371 
  Accumulated depreciation    (5)  (145)  (1 560)  (57)  (165) (1 932)
           
  Year ended 31/3/2014         
  Net book value 1 April 2013   58   55   1 139   98  89  1 439 
  Cost or valuation    63   200   2 699   155   254  3 371 
  Accumulated depreciation    (5)  (145)  (1 560)  (57)  (165) (1 932)
          
 

2. REVENUE
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        2014 2013
        R 000’s R 000’s
  Additions   -   -   98   28   57  183 
  Disposals   -   -   (16)  -   -     - (16)
  Depreciation charge   (1)  (6)  (372)  (25)  (52) (456)

  Net carrying amount          
  at 31 March 2014   57   49   849   101   94  1 150 
  Cost or valuation    63   200   2 642   183   311  3 399 
  Accumulated depreciation    (6)  (151)  (1 793)  (82)  (217) (2 249)

  Included in property, plant and equipment is computer equipment with a cost of R 313 093 that has been 
  fully depreciated, but is still in use.        
          
6  Intangible assets
           
 Intangible assets consist of software and licences.       
  
  Opening net book value        24   45 
  Cost or valuation        171  167 
  Accumulated amortisation        (147) (122
           
  Additions       -     8 
  Amortisation charge       (14)  (29)
          
  Closing net book value        10   24 
  Cost or valuation        40   171 
  Accumulated amortisation        (30)  (147
  
7  Trade and other receivables        
 
  Trade receivables       18   80 
  Accrued interest receivable       87   77 
  Prepayments       110   107 
  Less: Impairment recognised       (9)  (45)
        206  219 
  Current         
  Trade receivables       7   57 
        7  57 
  30 Days         
  Trade receivables      2  1 
        2  1 
  60 Days and more         
  Trade receivables      9  22 
        9  22 
   Trade and other receivables impaired        
        
  The amount of the provision for impairment was R 8 808 as at 31 March 2014 (2013: R 44 872)    
     
  Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade receivables      
         
  Opening balance       45   4 
  Bad debts recovered       (41)  -   
  Provision for impairment       4   41 
  Closing balance       8   45 
           
  Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired       
  
   At 31 March 2014 R 905 (2013: R 18 432)  were past due but not impaired.      
  The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:     
  Less than 30 days       -    1  
  61 to 90 days       -     1 
  Greater than 90 days       1   17 
        1   19 
  Trade and other receivables impaired        
 
   The ageing of amounts impaired is as follows:        
  Less than 30 days      -    41 
  Greater than 90 days       8   4 
         8   45 
  The fair value of the trade and other receivables approximates their carrying value.     
   
  The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference 
  to external credit ratings or historical information about default rates.      
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8 Cash and cash equivalents       2014  2013
         R 000’s    R 000’s   
           
 The South African Library for the Blind operates a current account with no overdraft facility 
 and a money market fund with Standard   Bank of South Africa.  The details are as follows:     
    
 BANK:  Standard Bank of South Africa        
 ACCOUNT NUMBER:  082 004 196 (Current Account)       
 ACCOUNT NUMBER:  05399840214 (Money Market Fund Account)      
 BRANCH:  Grahamstown         
 BRANCH CODE:  05 09 17        
 
 The South African Library for the Blind operates a savings account and a money market 
 fund account with ABSA Bank.  
 The details are as follows:        
 
 BANK:  ABSA Bank         
 ACCOUNT NUMBER:  3804 372 1159 (Savings Account)        
 ACCOUNT NUMBER:  9069975980 (Money Market Fund Account)     
 BRANCH:  Grahamstown         
 BRANCH CODE:  42 05 17        
 
 The South African Library for the Blind operates a 32-day Call Deposit account with GBS 
 Building Society.  The details are as follows:        
 
 BANK:  GBS Building Society         
 ACCOUNT NUMBER:  00809600036        
 BRANCH:  Grahamstown        
 
 Cash book balance at bank at beginning of the year    23 375  19 811 
 Cash book balance on hand at beginning of the year    4   5 
         23 379  19 816 
           
 Cash book balance at bank at end of the year     25 019  23 375 
 Cash book balance on hand at end of the year      5   4 
         25 024  23 379 
 The total restricted cash at year end is R 6 155 476 (2013: R 4 561 074).
      
 Total cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprise the following 
 statement of financial position amounts:        
 
  Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year      25 024   23 379 
  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year    (23 379)  (19 816)
  Cash and cash equivalents movement      1 645   3 563 
           
9 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure        
 Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure:       
  Opening balance       3   3 
   Fruitless and wasteful expenditure       11   - 
   Transfer to receivables for recovery      -   - 
   Fruitless and wasteful expenditure awaiting condonement     14   3 
          
10 Provisions
         10.1  
 Provision for Post Retirement Benefits        
 Post-Retirement Health Care Benefit Liability     2 686   2 438 
           
 Total:  Post-Retirement Medical Aid Benefit Liability    2 686   2 438 
        
 The Library provides post retirement medical benefits by funding the medical aid contributions of retired
 members of the Library.  According to the rules of the medical aid fund with which the Library is 
 associated, a member (who is on the current condition of service), on retirement, is entitled to remain a
 continued member of such medical aid fund, in which case the Library is liable for a certain portion of 
 the medical aid membership fee. 
         
 The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of the unfunded defined benefit obligation was 
 carried out as at 31 March 2012 by Alexander Forbes (Pty) Limited, a member of the Actuarial Society 
 of South Africa.  The present value of the defined obligation, and the related current service cost and 
 past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.      
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8 Cash and cash equivalents       2014  2013
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 ACCOUNT NUMBER:  9069975980 (Money Market Fund Account)     
 BRANCH:  Grahamstown         
 BRANCH CODE:  42 05 17        
 
 The South African Library for the Blind operates a 32-day Call Deposit account with GBS 
 Building Society.  The details are as follows:        
 
 BANK:  GBS Building Society         
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 Cash book balance at bank at beginning of the year    23 375  19 811 
 Cash book balance on hand at beginning of the year    4   5 
         23 379  19 816 
           
 Cash book balance at bank at end of the year     25 019  23 375 
 Cash book balance on hand at end of the year      5   4 
         25 024  23 379 
 The total restricted cash at year end is R 6 155 476 (2013: R 4 561 074).
      
 Total cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprise the following 
 statement of financial position amounts:        
 
  Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year      25 024   23 379 
  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year    (23 379)  (19 816)
  Cash and cash equivalents movement      1 645   3 563 
           
9 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure        
 Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure:       
  Opening balance       3   3 
   Fruitless and wasteful expenditure       11   - 
   Transfer to receivables for recovery      -   - 
   Fruitless and wasteful expenditure awaiting condonement     14   3 
          
10 Provisions
         10.1  
 Provision for Post Retirement Benefits        
 Post-Retirement Health Care Benefit Liability     2 686   2 438 
           
 Total:  Post-Retirement Medical Aid Benefit Liability    2 686   2 438 
        
 The Library provides post retirement medical benefits by funding the medical aid contributions of retired
 members of the Library.  According to the rules of the medical aid fund with which the Library is 
 associated, a member (who is on the current condition of service), on retirement, is entitled to remain a
 continued member of such medical aid fund, in which case the Library is liable for a certain portion of 
 the medical aid membership fee. 
         
 The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of the unfunded defined benefit obligation was 
 carried out as at 31 March 2012 by Alexander Forbes (Pty) Limited, a member of the Actuarial Society 
 of South Africa.  The present value of the defined obligation, and the related current service cost and 
 past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.      
          

10 Provisions (Cont.)      2014 2013
        R 000’s   R 000’s  
 The Post-Retirement Health Care Benefit Plan is a defined benefit plan, of which the
 members are made up as follows:          
    
  In-service members (employees)     21  21 
  Continuation members (retirees, widowers and orphans)     5  5 
  Total       26   26 
           
 The liability in respect of past service has been estimated to be as follows:   
  In-service members       1 130   1 026 
  Continuation members      1 556   1 412 
  Total liability       2 686   2 438 
           
 The Library makes monthly contributions for health care arrangements to the following medical aid schemes:     
   Liberty Medical Scheme (1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014) - Pensioners       
   Discovery Health Scheme (1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014)        
         
 The current service cost for the year ending 31 March 2014 is estimated to be R 198 000 (2013: R 121 000) 
 whereas the interest cost for the ensuing year is estimated to be R 131 000 (2013: R 179 000).     
           
 The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:     
           
  i) Rate of interest         
    Discount rate      8,25% 8,25%
    Health care cost inflation rate      7,50% 7,50%
     Expected retirement age - females      65 65
    Expected retirement age - males      65 65

 ii) Mortality rates          
    Pre-retirement   SA 85 - 90 (Light) ultimate table        
    Post-retirement   PA(90) ultimate table         
           
 iii) Normal retirement age         
   The normal retirement age for employees of the Library was assumed to be 65 years.       
           
 The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:      
           
   Present value of funded obligations      2 686  2 438 
  Fair value of plan assets       -   - 
         2 686   2 438 
   Present value of unfunded obligations        
   Unrecognised past service cost      -   - 
   Unrecognised actuarial gains / (losses)      -   - 
   Present value of unfunded obligations      2 686   2 438 
           
  Net Liability       2 686   2 438 
           
 The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:       
           
 Balance at beginning of year (1 April)     2 438  2 216 
  Recognised past service cost       -     -   
  Current service cost      198  121 
  Interest cost       131  179 
  Benefits paid      (81) (78)
  Actuarial loss on the obligation      -     -   
           
 Balance at end of year (31 March)       2 686  2 438 
           
 The effect of a 1 % movement in the assumed rate of health care cost inflation is as follows:      
           
 Increase          
 Effect on the current cost and the interest cost     467  424
 Effect on the defined benefit obligation      3 290  2 987
           
 Decrease          
 Effect on the current cost and the interest cost     287   261 
 Effect on the defined benefit obligation      2 230   2 024 
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11 Administrative expenses        
 
 General administrative expenses       243  141 
 Bad debts      1   41 
 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure (Refer to note 9)     -   - 
 Advertising       -   - 
 Insurance      143  124 
 Fees for services:        
 
  General       10  12 
  Board members       187  136 
 Corporate governance       14   34 
 Legal fees         54   24 
 Entertainment       1   2 
 Stationery and printing       58   63 
 Bank charges       39   31 
 Training and staff development       68   120 
 Total      818   728 
          
12 Staff costs         
 Wages and salaries       7 686   6 749 
 Basic salaries       6 246   5 376 
 Annual bonuses and awards       492   505 
 Housing allowance      433   288 
 Temporary staff       224   311 
 Leave gratuity       43   47 
 Post retirement medical benefits (Refer to note 10)    248   222 

 Senior Management (Refer to note 21)      1 378   1 458 
   Director/Chief Executive Officer     945   878 
  - Pensionable salary       592   552 
  - Non-pensionable salary       94   123 
  - Bonus       49   46
  - Housing allowance       11   10
  - Other employer contributions       199   147 
  Chief Financial Officer       433   580 
  - Pensionable salary       312   340 
  - Non-pensionable salary       60   92 
  - Bonus       -   44
  - Housing allowance       8  9 
  - Other employer contributions       53   95 

 Defined contribution plan expenses      1 692   1 519 
 Social contributions (employer’s contributions)      
  Medical       601   570 
  UIF       65   59 
  Pension       983   890 
  Other salary related costs       43  - 
 Total       10 756   9 726
          
13 Marketing costs
           
 General marketing expenses      150   146 
 Total       150   146
          
14 Audit fees
           
 Audit fees      347   388 
 Total      347  388 
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        R 000’s   R 000’s



11 Administrative expenses        
 
 General administrative expenses       243  141 
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 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure (Refer to note 9)     -   - 
 Advertising       -   - 
 Insurance      143  124 
 Fees for services:        
 
  General       10  12 
  Board members       187  136 
 Corporate governance       14   34 
 Legal fees         54   24 
 Entertainment       1   2 
 Stationery and printing       58   63 
 Bank charges       39   31 
 Training and staff development       68   120 
 Total      818   728 
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 Wages and salaries       7 686   6 749 
 Basic salaries       6 246   5 376 
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  - Bonus       49   46
  - Housing allowance       11   10
  - Other employer contributions       199   147 
  Chief Financial Officer       433   580 
  - Pensionable salary       312   340 
  - Non-pensionable salary       60   92 
  - Bonus       -   44
  - Housing allowance       8  9 
  - Other employer contributions       53   95 
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  Medical       601   570 
  UIF       65   59 
  Pension       983   890 
  Other salary related costs       43  - 
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13 Marketing costs
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 Total       150   146
          
14 Audit fees
           
 Audit fees      347   388 
 Total      347  388 
          
 

         
      2014 2013  
      R 000’s R 000’s
15 Other operating expenses

 Consultants Contractors and Special Services    137  243 
 Loss on foreign exchange     -  41 
 Research and development    -   - 
 Minor assets     -  9 
 Daisy project    2 778   387 
 African languages project    154  164 
 Tactile book project (Dept. of Arts and Culture)    80  90 
 Provincial co-ordinator projec     -   828 
 Library Project (Dept. of Sport, Recreation, Arts and Culture, Eastern Cape)    1 110   1 138 
 Kwazulu Natal Library project    652   2 268 
 Library and information services    436   172 
 Josie Wood school project    312  358 
 Book production services: audio and Braille     102  201 
 Repairs and maintenance     338   326 
  Property and buildings    27  6 
  Equipment     311  320 
 Depreciation (Refer to notes 5 and 6)    470  516 
 Stores/consumables    1   1 
 Travel and subsistence    435  417 
 Courier and delivery charges    646   8 
 Communication costs    292   229 
 Operating lease expense: equipment (Refer to note 15.1)     38   37 
 Loss on disposal of non-current assets     16   9 
 Total     8 735   5 689 
         
15.1 Operating leases       
 Analysed as follows:       
  Minimum operating lease rentals    65 85
  Contingent operating lease rentals     -     -     
      65 85
 SALB rents equipment under a non-cancellable operating lease for 60 months with option to renew.    
 
 Future commitments (including VAT) under non-cancellable operating leases are summarised as follows:    
   R 000’s R 000’s R 000’s   
 2014  Within 1 year 2 - 5 years Total   
 Minimum future lease payments  20   45   65    

 2013  Within 1 year 2 - 5 years Total  
 Minimum future lease payments  20   65   85    
         
 Escalation clause       
 There is no escalation clause.       
        
16 Trade and other payables       
  Trade creditors    74   172 
  Leave gratuity accrual    501   459 
  Accrual for bonus    319   256 
      894   887 

17 Provisions       
 Provision for performance awards       
 - Balance at beginning of year    134   132 
 - Provision utilised    (134)  (132)
 - Contribution to provision    154   134 
      154   134 
        
 Performance awards are paid based on the performance of the library, as well as individual performance. 
 The provision is an estimate based on unaudited profits as well as historical performance awards paid.    
         
 Provision for audit fees       
 - Balance at beginning of year    225   304 
 - Provision utilised    (225) (304)
 - Contribution to provision    300  225 
      300  225 
 The provision is an estimate based on the prior year fee adjusted for anticipated increases or 
 decreases as communicated by the auditors.       
      454  359 
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      2014 2013
      R 000’s R 000’s
18 Government grants      
 Government grant - African languages project   497  651 
 Government grant - Kwazulu Natal Library project    1 000  653 
 Government grant - Mpumalanga Library project    -  732 
 Government grant - library project    1 520  1 130 
 Government grant - capital equipment    2 797  897 
 Total     5 814  4 063 
         
 Government grants are recognised in accordance with grant conditions.     
        
19 Unspent conditional receipts      
 Josie Wood Trust Fund    342  498 
         
 Unspent conditional receipts is monies received upfront in respect of planned future projects which has 
 not yet been released to the statement of financial performance.     
   
20 Reconciliation of surplus to cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities    
    
20.1 Cash flows from operating activities       
 Surplus / (deficit) before interest    (1 596) 2 471 
 Adjusted for:       
 - Increase in employee benefits    248  222 
 - Depreciation (Refer to notes 5 and 6)    470  516 
 - Gain on recognition of previously unrecognised assets   -  (550)
 - Loss on disposal of non-current assets     16   9 
 - Non-cash flow increase in provisions    200  (54)
 - Impairment / reversal of impairment - trade debtors   10   41 
 Operating cash flows before working capital changes   (652) 2 655 
   
 Changes in working capital       
 - (Increase) Decrease in trade and other receivables   13  (59)
 - Decrease in trade and other payables    (98) (226)
      (85) (285)

 Cash generated from operations    737) 2 370 
 Interest received    970  936 
 Cash flows from operating activities    233  3 306 
  
21 Related party transactions and balances      
         
 The two buildings occupied by the South African Library for the Blind are owned by the Department of 
 Public Works and have been occupied at no cost during the year on an open ended lease with no fixed term.    
        
 Related Party transactions        
 Department of Arts and Culture - transfers and subsidies received  15 626  14 579 
 Department of Arts and Culture - grant income   2 654  2 646 
 Key management personnel       
 Refer to note 13 for remuneration paid to CEO and CFO.     
 Board members       
 Board fee     54  11 
 Board - 1 April 2013 - 30 September 2013       
 LS Nkosi     9  2 
 AC Keyser     1   1 
 TS Kekana     6  2 
 PA McLaren     1  2 
 J Nair     4  2 
 ML Ntshani    1  2 
 NN Rasmeni     4   -   
 Board - 1 October 2013 - 31 March 2014       
 R Rowland    10   -   
 M Watermeyer    5  -   
 JS Matsebula    2   -   
 Z Ally     5  -   
 V Nyamathe    6   -   
 Expenses    4  29 
 Board - 1 April 2013 - 30 September 2013   
 LS Nkosi     1  1 
 AC Keyser    1  5 
 TS Kekana    -    1 
 PA McLaren    -    2 
 ML Ntshani     -    13 
 NN Rasmeni     -    7 
 EN Xanise     2  -    
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 Related Party balances    
 Refer to note 18 for the balance of unspent conditional grants. All grants relate to the Department 
 of Arts and Culture.
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22  Variances in Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts        
  The amount for Capital Works shown under the budget income amounting to R897000 and R2440000 
  has not yet been received from the Department of Public Works.        
          
  For budget purposes, the income for Government grants is set off against the expenditure and does 
  not affect the overall financial position of the Library.        
          
  The amount of R312 000 was received from the Josie Wood Trust Fund as well as an amount of R433 000 
  which was received from Gifts, Sponsorships and Donations.  The Library does not budget for this class 
  of income as it is not guaranteed and can vary from year to year.        
          
  Compensation of employees was under budget by approximately 7.5%.  This was due to the fact that a 
 number of senior posts are on the establishment or are vacant and were not filled during the year under review.    
          
  Book production services: audio and Braille was under budget by an amount of R498 000 due to the fact that certain orders for supplies  
 were placed but not executed in the financial year under review due to circumstances beyond the control of the Library.   
          
  The amount set aside in the budget for Fixed Assets was expended on Daisy Players and the costs related to importing the players into  
 South Africa from the United Kingdom.  This expense represented a worthwhile investment by the Library in its members.     
          
  Certain marketing events which were envisaged did not come to fruition during the year under review 
 which accounted for an overbudget in this area.        
          
  Due to various savings which were made on the general administrative expenses during the year, this 
 item reflected an figure which was less than that on the budget.         
          
23  Risk management          
 Liquidity risk        
  The Library’s risk for liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. 
 The Library manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments.        
         
  The Library’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk is its trade creditors.        
          
  Interest rate risk        
  The current account and the investment account expose the Library to cash flow interest rate risk. 
 Deposits attract interest at a rate that varies according to the prime banking rate.        
          
  The Library manages this interest rate risk by ensuring that all surplus funds are invested in fixed rate instruments and by maintaining the  
 minimum possible balance in the current account. The interest rates on the fixed deposits are fixed, but vary from investment to i
 nvestment.        
          
  Currency risk        
  The entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, either directly through the import of goods and services,  
 or  indirectly through the award of contracts to local importers which are priced in foreign currency.  These transactions were mainly for  
 Daisy players, book titles and spares.        
          
  Stringent cash management procedure are in place. These include cash flow forecasting.  A sensitivity analysis has not been performed  
 and included as the Library is exposed to foreign exchange risk on a limited basis, as payments to the major foreign supplier, RNIB, are  
 generally made in advance.        
          
  Credit risk        
  Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and debtors. The Library only deposits cash with banks which have an   
 equity above R19 billion with a good credit rating.         
          
  Adequate provision has been made for anticipated bad and doubtful debts.  Additional information relating to the analysis of debtors is  
 given in Note 7 to the financial statements. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the cash balance at bank and debtors, which may   
 increase as a result of non payment by debtors or the bank.        
          
24  Prior year adjustments        
          
24.1  2012/2013 Financial Year          
 During the prior year the Library went through a thorough verification of its assets and noted that many assets were not included in the  
 asset register, or were included at nil values despite being still in use.
 At the beginning of the year valuers were employed to determine the value of these assets and a depreciation adjustment was determined  
 to correct the value of the assets. 
 Where the Library cannot determine the aquisition dates of these assets, full retrospective adjustment is not practicable and therefore   
 the entire adjustment has been made in the comparative year. Where the acquisition date is known, the error has been adjusted for 
 restrospectively.        
 The effect on the comparative year is as follows:        
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      2014 2013
      R 000’s R 000’s
          
24 Prior year adjustments (Cont.)        
          
24.2 Restated prior year comparatives        
  Statement of financial position       
          
  Accumulated surplus       
  Per audited financial statements     -   15 788 
  Prior period adjustment    -   1 028 
  Restated balance    -  16 816 
          
  Property, plant and equipment       
  Per audited financial statements    -   411 
  Prior period adjustment    -  1 028 
  Restated balance    -  1 439 
          
  Statement of financial performance       
          
  Other income       
  Per audited financial statements      3 066 
  Prior period adjustment     550 
  Restated balance     -  3 616 
          
  Other operating expenses       
  Per audited financial statements     5 590 
  Prior period adjustment     99 
  Restated balance    -  5 689 
          
25 Contingent liability        
          
 The former CFO (Alan Grootboom) brought a case of unfair dismissal against the library. The CCMA 
 ruled in Mr Grootboom’s favour and the library is now appealing their decision in labour court. 
 The library’s attorneys are of the opinion that the appeal will be decided in the library’s favour.       
 
          
26 Accounting Authority        
          
 From 1 April 2013 to 30 September 2013        
 Justice Z M Yacoob; Adv T S Kekana; Mr A C Keyser; Dr P A McLaren;          
 Mr J G Nair; Ms L S Nkosi; Mr M K Ntshani; Mrs N N Rasmeni; Mrs E N Xanise        
         
 From 1 October 2013 to 31 March 2014        
 Dr W P Rowland; Ms L S Nkosi; Mr Zaheer Ally; Mrs N N Rasmeni; Adv T S Kekana        
 Mr J G Nair; Ms J S Matsebula; Ms V G Nyamathe; Mr M S Watermeyer        
          
 Senior Management        
          
 Mr Francois Hendrikz (CEO/Director)        
 Mr Garth Wilson (CFO) - from 1 June 2013        
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The Board and Management of the Library for the Blind 

wish to express their gratitude to the Department of Arts and 

Culture, who ensure that the subsidy received by the Library 

enables it to provide a sustainable and indispensable service 

to the blind and print impaired community of South Africa in 

the medium to long term. Their continued support is greatly 

appreciated.

PASA (Publishers Association of South Africa), as the 

representative body of the South African publishers, is 

acknowledged for their ongoing support and belief in providing 

reading material and content to blind and visually impaired 

people of our population in accessible formats.

Many of the Library’s objectives and specific projects would not 

be possible without the continued and generous support of our 

donors which include all bequests received. These donations 

make it possible for the Library to add value to the services and 

products offered by the Library to our members. 

A warm special thank you is extended to our valued team of 

volunteer narrators, transcribers, copy-typists and proofreaders. 

Without your commitment and loyal support, the major part of 

our book production would not be possible.

Finally and most importantly, sincere appreciation is extended to 

the staff of the Library – a dedicated team of people who strive 

for excellence at all times. Keep up the good work and thank 

you very much for your contribution. 

A TRIBUTE TO OUR DONORS
GOLD DONORS      
(R100 000+)     
Josie Wood Trust 

SILVER DONORS
(R10 000 - R99 000)
Boys, R R Estate late
Drakeford, J Estate late
Kerr, A J Estate late
Lily Ashton Charitable Trust
McNaught, K I Estate late
Rawbone Trust
Richardson, W W
Roberts, J S Estate late
Whiteleys
Wilfred Orr Trust

BRONZE DONORS
(R1 000 - R9 000)
Anderton, D
Atwell, Mrs JT
BK Administrators Incorporated

Bradfield Foundation
Brice, P M
Colin John Campbell Trust
de Kock, C M
Dutton, M
F G Connock Charity Trust
Forbes, S
Frank & Flo Baker Trust
Herdman, J H
Kruger, Dr
Lombard, P E
Macdonald, J M Estate late
McCallaghan, C J
Penman, V M G
Rosser Charity Trust
Rushmere Estate late
Southwood, N
Swart, A E Estate late
van der Merwe, H W
van der Spuy, U D
van Zyl, A
White, M A
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